

# A Path to Cleaner Water

# How investments in America's water infrastructure are protecting waterways



# A Path to Cleaner Water

How investments in America's water infrastructure are protecting waterways



Written by:

Laura Miller and John Rumpler Environment America Research & Policy Center

December 2020

# Acknowledgments

Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center sincerely thanks Rebecca Hammer of Natural Resources Defense Council and Katie Henderson of U.S. Water Alliance for their review of this document, as well as their insights and suggestions. For their work on these projects and review of specific case studies, thank you to Diane Williamson of the Town of Bristol Rhode Island; Jennifer Callahan of the Vermont Agency of Transportation; Andres Torizzo of Watershed Consulting; Jennifer Aiosa of Blue Water Baltimore; Cathy Akroyd and Kim Colson on North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality; Allison Fore and Patrick Thomas of Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago; Kimberly Colich of Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District; Kurt Sprangers of the City of Milwaukee; Alexandra O'Connor, Greg Schwarz, and Rey Garcia of the City of San Marcos Texas; Gary Rasp of the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality; Carrie Lamb of the City of Springfield Missouri, Todd Wilkinson of James River Basin Partnership; Alyssa Barton of Puget Soundkeeper Alliance; and Arnel Mandilag and Diane Dulken of the City of Portland Oregon. Thanks to Kristine Oblock, Clean Water Network Director with Environment America Research & Policy Center for editorial support.

Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center thanks Elise Simmons of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency New England and Stacey Erickson of U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 8 for their research support.

The author bears responsibility for any factual errors. The recommendations are those of Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center. The views expressed in this report are those of the authors and do not necessarily reflect the views of our funders or those who provided review.

© 2020 Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center. Some Rights Reserved. This work is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial No Derivatives 3.0 Unported License. To view the terms of this license, visit creativecommons.org/licenses/by-nc-nd/3.0.

Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center is a 501(c)(3) organization. We are dedicated to protecting North Carolina's air, water and open spaces. We investigate problems, craft solutions, educate the public and decision-makers, and help the public make their voices heard in local, state and national debates over the quality of our environment and our lives. For more information about Environment North Carolina Research & Policy Center or for additional copies of this report, please visit www.environmentnorthcarolinacenter.org.

Layout: Alec Meltzer/meltzerdesign.net Cover: Wetlands of Christina River, DE. Credit: Laura Miller

# Table of contents

Executive summary	
Introduction	
Excessive stormwater carries pollution to our waterways	6
Failing sewage systems threaten waterways with fecal contamination	7
Stormwater runoff and wastewater pollution threaten public health and the environment	
Water Infrastructure Works	
EPA Region 1: (CT, ME, MA, NH, RI, VT, and 10 Tribal Nations)	10
Rhode Island: Green Infrastructure makes Bristol Beach safe for swimming	
Vermont: Green infrastructure helps protect the Passumpsic River from sewage overflows	
Vermont: Gravel wetland reduces runoff into St. Albans Bay	
Maine: Wastewater treatment plant upgrade reduces pollution into Casco Bay	
Connecticut: Green solutions restore New Haven's Edgewood Park Pond	
EPA Region 2: (NY, NJ, PR, USVI, and 8 Tribal Nations)	
New Jersey: Resiliency Park to protect the Hudson River from sewer overflows	
New Jersey: Green infrastructure helps open the Cooper River for recreation84	
EPA Region 3: (DE, DC, MD, PA, VA, WV, and 7 Tribal Nations)	
Delaware: Wetlands and sewer separation protect the Christina River	
Maryland: Hospital green infrastructure to reduce pollution in Chesapeake Bay watershed	
EPA Region 4: (AL, FL, GA, KY, MS, NC, SC, TN, and 6 Tribal Nations)	
Florida: Green Infrastructure Protects Roberts Bay 106	
North Carolina: Sanitary Sewer Improvements to Prevent Sewer Overflows	
EPA Region 5: (IL, IN, MI, MN, OH, WI, and 33 Tribal Nations).	
Illinois: Stormwater storage helps restore the the Chicago River.	
Ohio: Cleveland's green infrastructure helps prevent pollution of Lake Erie	
Wisconsin: Milwaukee is turning to green infrastructure to protect Lake Michigan	
EPA Region 6: (NM, TX, OK, AR, LA, and 66 Tribal Nations)	
Texas: Guadalupe River Restored Following Wastewater Infrastructure Upgrade	
Texas: Stormwater infrastructure protects San Marcos River	
EPA Region 7: (IA, KO, NE, KS, and 9 Tribal Nations)	
Missouri: Kansas City testing green solutions to clean up the Blue River	
Missouri: South Creek restored using natural solutions	
EPA Region 8: (CO, MT, ND, SD, UT, WY, and 28 Tribal Nations)	
Montana: Wastewater system improvements protect Hebgen Lake	
EPA Region 9: (AZ, CA, HI, NV, Pacific Islands, and 148 Tribal Nations)	
California: New Wastewater Treatment Center to Protect Malibu Lagoon State Beach from Fecal Bacteria	
EPA Region 10: (WA, OR, ID, AK, and 271 Tribal Nations).	
Washington: LOTT wastewater plant eliminates sewage overflows to Puget Sound	
Oregon: Portland's Waterways Restored by Big Pipe Project and Green Infrastructure	
Policy Recommendations	
Citations	

# **Executive summary**

merica's waterways are a national asset. They are the places we swim on hot summer days, kayak with friends and family, spend a relaxing day fishing, and so much more. Yet billions of gallons of stormwater runoff and sewage overflows continue to pollute our rivers, lakes and coastal waters. As a result, all too often our beaches are unsafe for swimming, communities are flooded with sewage, and toxic algal outbreaks threaten wildlife and public health. Absent strong action from our leaders, these pollution problems will worsen in coming years, as overdevelopment and more intense storms put greater burdens on our fraying water infrastructure systems.

Stormwater and wastewater management systems are part of America's water infrastructure; when properly maintained they can prevent pollution. But as a nation, we have failed to keep our water infrastructure in working order. The American Society of Civil Engineers gave U.S. wastewater infrastructure a D+ grade in 2017.<sup>1</sup>

If we want clean water, our nation will have to make a substantial investment in repairing and updating our infrastructure. The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates that wastewater and stormwater systems will require an investment of \$271 billion over the next 20 years to meet demands.<sup>2</sup> This is likely a conservative estimate for actual investment requirements in the coming years.

With investment in clean water, America can deploy nature-based or green infrastructure—such as vegetated buffers, rain barrels, and constructed wetlands—to help prevent combined sewage overflows and capture stormwater before it sweeps pollutants into our waterways. Simply fixing and updating our aging and often outdated sewage infrastructure will also reduce this pollution.

In every EPA Region across the country, there are success stories. Documented cases of communities fixing and/or greening their water infrastructure exist nation-wide, creating cleaner waterways as a result:

- Rhode Island—Green infrastructure and septic replacement helped eliminate beach closures from bacteria at Bristol's Town Beach on Narragansett Bay.
- Vermont—Green stormwater infrastructure is protecting the Passumpsic River and St. Albans Bay on Lake Champlain from runoff pollution.
- Maine—By upgrading its treatment plant, separating sewer lines and increasing stormwater storage, Portland is on track to end sewage overflows into Casco Bay by 2030.
- **Connecticut**—Stormwater redirected to an existing wetland, and new vegetation restored the Edgewood Park Pond as a clean and treasured feature of the park.
- New Jersey—Underway green stormwater infrastructure projects in Hoboken and the Camden area are projected to dramatically reduce pollution into the Hudson and Cooper rivers, respectively.
- Delaware—A soon-to-be completed stormwater wetland park and stormwater and wastewater sewer separation will eliminate sewer overflows and reduce stormwater pollution into the Christina River.

- Maryland—Green infrastructure and conservation landscaping around the MedStar Harbor Hospital is trapping and filtering 18 acres of runoff before it reaches the Patapsco River.
- Florida–Updates to sewer and stormwater infrastructure is keeping runoff pollution from Robert's Bay and the surrounding white sand beaches.
- North Carolina—Forthcoming sewer improvements will keep sewage pollution from entering the Flat Swamp and flowing into the Neuse River.
- Alabama—Green infrastructure soaks up nutrients, making Mill Creek clean and accessible to Auburn University and local residents.
- Illinois—A world-class stormwater tunnel and reservoir system eliminated combined sewer overflows in 2018 from the Calumet river systems in the Chicago region.
- Ohio–Green stormwater infrastructure projects around Cleveland are keeping 46 million gallons of combined sewer overflows out of Lake Erie.
- Wisconsin—An in-the-works green stormwater park will prevent an estimated 150,000 gallons of stormwater runoff from Interstate 794 from contaminating Lake Michigan.
- **Texas**—Wastewater treatment system updates keep fecal bacteria out of the Guadalupe River, and nature-based infrastructure incorporated into a road redesign now protects the San Marcos River from stormwater pollution.

- **Missouri**—Green infrastructure and a stream restoration project is preventing stormwater runoff pollution and other threats from contaminating the Blue River and South Creek.
- Montana–Wastewater treatment system upgrades are helping protect Hebgen Lake for wildlife and recreation.
- **California**—An ongoing project to switch residents from failing septic systems to a new wastewater treatment facility will help make Malibu Lagoon State Beach safe for swimming and surfing.
- Washington–Wastewater treatment plant upgrades greatly reduce nitrogen levels and eliminate combined sewer overflows into the Puget Sound.
- Oregon—Gray and green stormwater infrastructures are working together to reduce combined sewer overflows into the Willamette River and Columbia Slough by 94 percent and 99 percent, respectively.

These examples show investments in water infrastructure providing tangible clean water results.

Policy makers must invest in America's water infrastructure and innovative gray and green infrastructure to prevent stormwater runoff pollution and sewage overflows from reaching waterways. By investing now, the nation can begin improving its water management systems before the problem worsens and becomes harder to address.

# Introduction

**F** ffective water infrastructure protects America's beaches, drinking water sources, and vital waterways. It ensures that polluted stormwater and sewage don't flood the streets when it rains or contaminate the waters in which we swim, fish, and boat.

Systems that manage water can be conventional, such as pipes and treatment plants, and natural, such as wetlands and rain gardens. Due to a lack of funding to install or upgrade these systems, our country is failing to keep waterways clean.

In 2017, the American Society of Civil Engineers gave U.S. wastewater infrastructure a D+ grade.<sup>3</sup> The U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) estimates that wastewater systems will require an investment of \$271 billion over the next 20 years to meet current and future demands.<sup>4</sup> This estimate is for system repairs and maintenance, and does not mention the need to remove emerging contaminants nor the impacts of climate change on water infrastructure.<sup>5</sup> Therefore, it is likely an underestimate of the expected cost to protect American waterways.

Not only is the need for funding great, but overall federal investments in water infrastructure have declined since the 1980s. The federal government's investment in water and wastewater utilities declined from 63 percent in 1977 to only 9 percent in 2014.<sup>6</sup> Cash-strapped state and local governments pay significantly more than the federal government on water infrastructure.<sup>7</sup> Strain on state and local government budgets often cause water infrastructure needs to fall behind other priorities, leading to unsafe water, particularly in communities with smaller budgets and reduced capacity. This strain will worsen due to the economic impacts of COVID-19. Continuing to fund clean water at the current level is insufficient for the nation's needs.

Without proper investment, the impact of failing water infrastructure and stormwater runoff pollution is evident. In 2020, dead fish washed ashore in Biscayne Bay in Florida<sup>8</sup> and the Pamlico River in North Carolina<sup>9</sup> as pollution made the water uninhabitable. In the last decade, the frequency of algal outbreaks in the Great Lakes rose dramatically<sup>10</sup> due in part to sewage overflows and stormwater runoff pollution.<sup>12</sup> Many swimming spots, such as Juanita Beach in Washington state,<sup>13</sup> can be deemed unsafe for swimming after potentially hazardous levels of contaminants, such as fecal matter bacteria, are detected.

Contaminants that threaten our waterways often come from sources that effective water infrastructure could prevent. Without action to update our water systems, more fish kills, harmful algal outbreaks, and beach closures can be expected in years to come.

### Excessive stormwater carries pollution to our waterways

Rainfall, snow melt, floodwaters, and other types of stormwater flowing over urban and suburban areas can pick up contaminants and carry them to nearby waterways. Stormwater runoff can contain nutrients and bacteria from fertilizer, and fecal waste from yards and failing sewer systems. This polluted stormwater runoff can contaminate waterways directly, or after passing through storm drains that do not remove pollutants.

Impervious surfaces—such as parking lots, highways, and malls—prevent stormwater from percolating naturally

through the soil. Instead, stormwater flows along these surfaces and picks up oil, grease, fecal matter, and toxic chemicals, and then all too often sweeps these pollutants into nearby waterways.. Additionally, overdevelopment often destroys or degrades natural areas like wetlands that protect waterways by filtering out pollutants.

In recent history, developed areas in the U.S. have rapidly expanded. From 1996 to 2010, 3.6 million acres of coastal areas in the U.S. were developed, while 982,000 acres of wetlands and millions of acres of forests were destroyed in that region.<sup>14</sup>

A 2014 study from the journal Hydrological Processes found that an "increase in impervious surfaces will intensify current undesired impacts of development by converting even more rainfall to stormwater runoff" and "[c]oncentrations of indicators of water quality degradation (e.g. chemicals, nutrients, bacteria, viruses) increase in waterways as development increases."<sup>15</sup>

As over-development increases volumes of runoff, heavy precipitation events are also worsening stormwater runoff pollution. Research shows that climate change is increasing the frequency and intensity of rain events in many parts of the country. The Northeast and Midwest regions are experiencing the greatest increases in heavy precipitation, 71 percent and 37 percent respectively.<sup>16</sup>

Each region is unique, therefore intensifying storm events are impacting stormwater runoff volumes differently. But an increase in severe storms will increase runoff volume and the peak rate of stormwater flow.<sup>17</sup> For example, precipitation data over Lake Ontario between 1954-1983 and 1984-2013 show an increase in precipitation of 3.5 percent. During that period, runoff into Lake Ontario increased by 9.8 percent <sup>18</sup> adding pollution stress to the lake.<sup>19</sup>

As intensifying storms and expanding development increase stormwater runoff pollution, the need for clean water solutions such as updated water infrastructure and clean water funding grows as well. Without immediate action, stormwater runoff pollution will worsen, our waterways will grow dirtier, and water infrastructure will require larger, more expensive fixes.

### Failing sewage systems threaten waterways with fecal contamination

In the U.S. there are tens of thousands of sewage system leaks or overflows every year,<sup>20</sup> spilling human fecal waste into the environment and contaminating rivers, lakes, and coastal waters.

Some of the worst sewage spills are caused by combined sewer systems, outdated systems that combine stormwater and sewage in a single pipe. During storm events, the increase in stormwater overwhelms the system and causes an overflow of excess sewage and stormwater into a nearby waterway. This overflow event is called a Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO).

There are approximately 860 communities and 40 million people served by combined sewer systems in the U.S., most of which can be found in Northeast and Great Lakes regions.<sup>21</sup> In 2014, EPA reported that in the Great Lakes region alone, CSOs discharged 22 billion gallons of sewage and stormwater into the Great Lakes.<sup>22</sup> For communities using these systems, aging wastewater infrastructure and increased stormwater volumes will lead to an increase in CSO events.

Sanitary sewers, unlike combined sewer systems, carry only sewage and are less prone to spills if maintained.<sup>23</sup> However, they overflow as many as 75,000 times a year in the U.S.,<sup>24</sup> and spills occur either when a pipe leaks sewage or water enters the pipe causing an overflow. Storm events with heavy rainfall, and sanitary sewers places in locations with high water tables can increase the chance for these systems to be overwhelmed.

Septic systems are another major source of sewage pollution, with a failure rate between 5 and 35 percent.<sup>25</sup> When used and maintained properly, septic systems can effectively treat wastewater at the source. But if installed in a location prone to flooding or if they are not properly maintained, these systems can leak sewage and contaminate ground and surface water.

# Stormwater runoff and wastewater pollution threaten public health and the environment

Fecal contamination makes water unsafe for swimming. Human contact with water contaminated by fecal matter can result in gastrointestinal illness, respiratory disease, ear or eye infection, and skin rash.<sup>26</sup> In fact, each year in the U.S. an estimated 57 million swimmers in oceans, lakes, rivers, and ponds suffer from recreational waterborne illness.<sup>27</sup>

The 2020 edition of Environment America Research & Policy Center's report Safe for Swimming? highlighted stormwater runoff pollution and sewage overflows as major threats to beach safety across the country. In an analysis of water quality data from 3,172 sites across 29 coastal and Great Lake states and Puerto Rico, they found that over half the sites tested were potentially unsafe for swimming on one day in 2019<sup>28</sup> due to levels of fecal indicator bacteria above EPA's "Beach Action

Value.<sup>"29</sup> Nearly one in every eight beaches surveyed were potentially unsafe on at least 25 percent of sampling days in 2019.<sup>30</sup>

The effects of stormwater runoff and sewage pollution are visible across the country. Signs for beach closures warn swimmers of potential fecal matter contamination in their lakes and coastal waters. Harmful algal outbreaks caused by excess nutrients from stormwater runoff can lead to fish kills.<sup>31</sup> Sewer infrastructure from the mid-1900s or earlier is failing, releasing partially treated or untreated wastewater into our communities or waterways during rain and storm events, such as those seen throughout 2019 in Cleveland, Ohio.<sup>32</sup>

In summary, after decades of underinvestment, aging and failing water infrastructure is being overwhelmed by an increase in development and heavier stormwater loads from a changing climate. As a consequence, our waterways are plagued with high volumes of pollution that threatens public health and our environment.

# Water Infrastructure Works

Fortunately, this water pollution can be dramatically reduced when we devote the resources to repairing and updating our water infrastructure. Green and natural infrastructure—including restored wetlands, rooftop gardens, and vegetated buffers—recreate nature's capacity to absorb stormwater onsite, and thereby prevent runoff pollution and curb CSOs. Replacing leaky wastewater pipes and broken or inad-

equate treatment works likewise prevents the flow of sewage pollution into our waterways.

The efficacy of these clean water solutions is evidenced by the actual experience of communities across the country. This report documents the success of 23 water infrastructure projects from every U.S. EPA Region across the country.

# EPA Region 1: (CT, ME, MA, NH, RI, VT, and 10 Tribal Nations)

### Rhode Island: Green infrastructure makes Bristol beach safe for swimming



Narragansett Bay. Credit: Flickr, Boliyou

#### Problem

Narragansett Bay is considered the heart of Rhode Island, providing for thousands of plants, fish, and wildlife species and welcoming two million residents and ten million tourists every year.<sup>33</sup> Town Beach in Bristol is a classic example of what the Bay brings to Ocean State residents—swimming, recreation classes, summer camps, and more. Unfortunately, it was often closed due to pollution from bacteria in stormwater runoff.

Between 2000 and 2012, Town Beach experienced 72 beach closure days<sup>34</sup> due to water contamination. Likely

sources of contamination included four stormwater discharges, fecal matter from geese, runoff from the beach's parking lot, and failing septic systems.<sup>35</sup>

#### **Solution**

In addition to removing and replacing two nearby septic systems with a sewer line,<sup>36</sup> green infrastructure was installed to trap and filter stormwater runoff as it flowed toward the beach.

To reduce wildlife fecal matter, 125 trees were planted to deter Canada Geese from lingering and dropping their waste. These trees also manage stormwater by capturing and storing rainfall and promoting its infiltration into soil where it will filter nutrients and other pollutants by tree root systems.<sup>37</sup>

The beach parking lot was rebuilt with a vegetated stormwater channel to collect and treat stormwater, and six rain gardens and three vegetated stormwater basins were built into the parking lot and adjacent play areas.<sup>38</sup> All of these systems are designed to slow stormwater runoff as it flows towards the beach, filter it of contaminants using a variety of techniques, and discharge it slowly into the Bay. They collect and treat stormwater from a total of 95 acres from surrounding neighborhoods, roads, and parking lots.<sup>39</sup>

Additionally, marsh grasses and other native plants were planted as a buffer to filter runoff along the beach's north side.<sup>40</sup>



Green Stormwater Infrastructure in Town Beach Parking Lot, Bristol Rhode Island. Credit: Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management

#### Result

The new green infrastructure protects Town Beach by removing pollutants from roughly 12 million gallons of stormwater (on average) each year.<sup>41</sup> After the project's completion, beach closures were eliminated in 2013, resulting in an estimated \$50,000 increase in revenue from the beach over five years.<sup>42</sup>

With water that is safe for swimming, Town Beach is once again open to neighbors and visitors, and even offered outdoor summer camps and physically distanced group fitness classes during the COVID-19 pandemic.<sup>43</sup>

While this project has shown outstanding results, much more work is needed to protect Narragansett Bay and its tributaries, which still suffer from 2.2 billion gallons of sewage overflows each year.<sup>44</sup>

#### Funding

The Town Beach retrofit cost \$1,404,620 and was paid for by a \$1 million Rhode Island State Revolving Fund loan as well as EPA and local funding.<sup>45</sup>

### Vermont: Green infrastructure helps protect the Passumpsic River from sewage overflows

#### Problem

The Passumpsic River in northeastern Vermont offers anglers a chance to catch rainbow and brown trout,<sup>46</sup> swimmers a place to cool off on hot days, and beautiful scenery for all that visit its waters. Despite its healthy fish populations in early spring and use for swimming in the summer, the river is not always clean enough for fishing and swimming. A section of the river is impaired by fecal bacteria due to St. Johnsbury's combined sewer overflows.<sup>47</sup>

#### Solution

As part of a long-term plan to reduce combined sewer overflows required by the state, St. Johnsbury is implementing green stormwater infrastructure. Oak Street runs along the banks of the impaired portion of the Passumpsic River and was targeted to reduce stormwater runoff. A traditional, or gray, water infrastructure project was planned to replace a water main and install new sewer and stormwater collection systems that would



Aerial view of St. Johnsbury and the Passumpsic River. Credit: iStock photos, Joshua Conover

reduce combined sewer overflows. To further reduce runoff pollution, green infrastructure practices were installed at the project site, including a vegetated stormwater basin and road grading to direct runoff towards the green infrastructure for treatment and storage. These natural systems collect and treat stormwater runoff from over seven acres of the surrounding area before it reaches the Passumpsic River.<sup>48</sup>

#### Results

Completed in 2019, the green stormwater infrastructure project along Oak Street provides 5,550 cubic feet of stormwater storage and treatment capacity. The system is capable of capturing the first three inches of rainfall with no discharge into the Passumpsic.<sup>49</sup>

This project, along with the other efforts by St. Johnsbury to reduce combined sewer overflows, will preserve the Passumpsic River for anglers, swimmers, paddlers, and nature lovers for years to come. It is a long-term project that has been in the works since 1993, with limited funding drawing out the project's timeline. Additional funding would speed up the city's remediation efforts and bring clean water to the area as soon as possible.<sup>50</sup>

#### Funding

The green stormwater management project on Oak Street cost \$600,000<sup>51</sup> and was funded in part by the Clean Water State Revolving Fund.<sup>52</sup>

# Vermont: Gravel wetland reduces runoff into St. Albans Bay



Lake Champlain. Credit: Pixabay

#### Problem

The town of St. Albans, on the shores of Lake Champlain, is home to St. Albans Bay which offers stunning views of mountain peaks, and a chance to swim, boat, or fish. But the Bay, like many other parts of Lake Champlain, suffers from harmful algal outbreaks due to an excess of the nutrient phosphorus from urban and agricultural runoff.<sup>53</sup> These outbreaks are potentially hazardous to humans and pets swimming in the lake, and are a target of cleanup efforts for local, state, and national agencies. Several streams carry phosphorus to the St. Albans Bay, including Stevens Brook, which flows through St. Albans and carries stormwater runoff containing phosphorus and other contaminants to the St. Albans Bay.

#### **Solution**

In addition to agricultural best management practices, urban stormwater management is being implemented to reduce phosphorus levels and harmful algal outbreaks in the Bay. To address stormwater runoff pollution in Stevens Brook, the Vermont Agency of Transportation installed a gravel wetland to capture and treat stormwater runoff from the adjacent Park and Ride and roadway. Catch basins direct stormwater into the wetland, where it is filtered through microbe-rich gravel beneath the surface. Native plants above the gravel and along the wetland's slopes absorb additional stormwater and



St. Albans Gravel Wetland after completion. Credit: Watershed Consulting

nutrients.<sup>54</sup> During storm events, the wetland holds excess water, and filters and releases it slowly into Stevens Brook to prevent erosion and flooding<sup>55</sup> that may cause additional pollution.

#### Result

The St. Albans Park and Ride gravel wetland successfully traps and treats stormwater before releasing it into Stevens Brook and eventually Lake Champlain, and serves as an example for other green stormwater projects throughout Vermont. The Vermont Department of Environmental Conservation's Stormwater Treatment Standards expects gravel wetlands, when properly constructed and maintained, to remove 60-80 percent of total phosphorus.<sup>56</sup>

Despite the success of this project, St. Albans Bay still requires additional investment in water infrastructure and other best management practices to reduce phosphorus pollution causing harmful algal outbreaks.

#### Funding

This project cost approximately \$44,000 and was paid for by Vermont's Clean Water Initiative Program<sup>57</sup> which receives funding from state and federal sources.

### Maine: Wastewater treatment plant upgrade reduces pollution into Casco Bay

#### Problem

Casco Bay, off the coast of Portland, is a gem of the northeast coast known for fresh seafood, its beautiful rocky coastline, and water recreation opportunities.<sup>58</sup> However, combined sewer overflows from its failing wastewater treatment systems threaten the prized coastal waters and beaches.<sup>59</sup> As of 2014, Portland's 31 combined sewage systems release 414 million gallons of untreated stormwater and sewage into the Bay.<sup>60</sup> Excess nitrogen from these overflows and other common sources can cause algal outbreaks, like those in 2017,<sup>61</sup> and put the health of Casco Bay at risk.

#### **Solution**

As part of a long term plan for Portland to reduce pollution into the Bay as required by a consent decree, the city is separating sewer lines, creating stormwater storage facilities,<sup>62</sup> implementing green infrastructure to trap and treat stormwater,<sup>63</sup> and upgrading wastewater treatment plants. The East End Wastewater Treatment Plant was upgraded in 2018 to increase capacity and reduce nitrogen discharges from the facility.<sup>64</sup>



Portland Lighthouse. Credit: Pixabay

#### **Results**

The East End Wastewater Treatment Plant reduced its nitrogen discharges into Casco Bay in 2018 by 72 percent.<sup>65</sup>

However, ensuring clean water in Casco Bay will require much more work, including a \$170 million plan to end all of Portland's remaining CSOs.<sup>66</sup>

#### Funding

The East End Wastewater Treatment Facility upgrade cost \$11.4 million, and was funded by the Clean Water State Revolving Fund. It also received a \$200,000 grant from Efficiency Maine for its energy efficiency.<sup>67</sup>

### **Connecticut: Green solutions restore New Haven's Edgewood Park Pond**

#### Problem

Edgewood Park Pond in New Haven once offered visitors a chance to birdwatch, canoe, or fish. By 1990 it was shallow and at risk of becoming a marsh. Nutrients caused algae outbreaks, which "transformed the pond into a pool of green muck and unpleasant odors."<sup>68</sup>

Erosion of slopes near the pond delivered sediment during storms, made worse by a stormwater discharge pipe embedded in these slopes. This storm pipe, as well as pet and wildlife waste, were possible sources of bacteria and nutrients.<sup>69</sup> The pond was too polluted for wildlife or for swimming.<sup>70</sup>



Image of Edgewood Park Pond after project completion. Credit: U.S. EPA

#### Solution

The storm pipe was redirected to a nearby wetland where that stormwater would be trapped and filtered. Vegetation was planted along the nearby slopes to reduce erosion and discourage resident waterfowl from accessing the pond and dropping waste where it would run into the water. Additionally, the pond was deepened and fish habitat was created.<sup>71</sup>

#### **Results**

By 2006, reductions in nutrient pollution made the pond clean enough to support fish and wildlife again.<sup>72</sup> The pond was removed from the U.S. EPA's list of impaired waterways for bacteria in 2014.<sup>73</sup> The pond was not relisted, and is once again a treasured feature of Edgewood Park. The park is now used for educational programs by local school groups, canoeing and kayaking, and is open for fishing.<sup>74</sup>

#### Funding

The pond's restoration project cost \$393,000, supplied by EPA Clean Water Act section 319 program, state, and local funding.<sup>75</sup>

# EPA Region 2: (NY, NJ, PR, USVI, and 8 Tribal Nations)

### New Jersey: Resiliency Park to protect the Hudson River from sewer overflows

#### Problem

While the upper reaches of the Hudson River have been cleaned up enough for boating, fishing, and swimming, sewage overflows and runoff pollution continue to make the river unsafe for swimming in the Hudson Harbor Estuary<sup>76</sup> on which the city of Hoboken is located.

In addition to being located on a polluted waterway, Hoboken experiences chronic flooding. Following Superstorm Sandy, around 75 percent of the city was inundated with many areas inaccessible for nearly a week.<sup>77</sup> Floodwaters overwhelm the city's combined sewer system, causing discharges of sewage and stormwater into the Hudson, or can back up into city streets and basements during severe floods. The city experienced an average of 49 sewage overflows per year, as of 2017.<sup>78</sup>

#### **Solution**

Hoboken is incorporating green infrastructure into its overflow mitigation plan. Their green infrastructure will increase the city's resilience during wet weather while capturing and treating stormwater at its source.<sup>79</sup>

The Northwest Resiliency Park, to be completed in 2022, is part of the city's green infrastructure plan. Once constructed, it will be the largest stormwater park in Hoboken to date. To capture and filter stormwater, the design plans for the park include several stormwater gardens and gravel storage under athletic fields. Additionally, plans for the park include an underground stormwater detention system to trap stormwater to prevent flooding and sewage overflows.<sup>80</sup>



Graphic rendering of the Northwest Resiliency Park design. Credit: City of Hoboken.

#### **Results**

The 6-acre park will store up to two million gallons of stormwater during intense rain using the stormwater storage and green infrastructure systems.<sup>81</sup> It is expected to alleviate chronic flooding in the surrounding neighborhoods and greatly reduce combined sewer overflows.

#### Funding

The total cost of the Northwest Resiliency Park is currently slated to be \$90 million.<sup>82</sup> It was funded by the New Jersey Environmental Infrastructure Program which draws funding, in part, from the Clean Water State Revolving Fund.<sup>83</sup>

# New Jersey: Green infrastructure helps open the Cooper River for recreation<sup>84</sup>

#### Problem

The Cooper River in southwestern New Jersey offers locals a chance to fish, birdwatch, and paddle in Camden County. Heavy development caused an increase in urban land use and impervious cover, severely limiting the amount of stormwater that can soak into the ground. High levels of urban stormwater runoff caused severe streambank erosion and deposited a variety of pollutants into the river. The Cooper River was listed as impaired in 2006 due to poor water clarity, water quality too poor for many water dwelling animals, and phosphorus and fecal bacteria contamination.

#### **Solution**

In 2006 the Camden County Soil Conservation District created a watershed-based plan to restore the Cooper River. It prioritized stormwater best management practices and reducing stormwater runoff pollution.

Implementation began in 2007, and as of October 2018 approximately 42 rain gardens, one stream restoration, a floating island pond treatment unit, a biofilter wetland, a vegetated stream buffer, and 14 stormwater basins to slow and filter stormwater have been implemented. These systems use native plants to trap and treat stormwater before it reaches the Cooper River.



Rain Garden at Subaru of America in Cherry Hill, NJ. Credit: U.S. EPA

#### **Results**

These green infrastructure systems greatly reduced untreated stormwater runoff from impervious surfaces by allowing rain to soak into the ground. In 2014, a section of the Cooper River was delisted for water clarity. Progress is still underway and the river remains listed as impaired for several contaminants.<sup>85</sup>

As water quality improves, community members are enjoying increased access to the river, and take advantage of fishing and boating opportunities when it is safe to do so.<sup>86</sup>

#### Funding

Between 2007 and 2011, a federal grant from the Clean Water Act provided around \$1.1 million for restoration projects. Local partners such as Rutgers and local school districts also contributed to the restoration.

# EPA Region 3: (DE, DC, MD, PA, VA, WV, and 7 Tribal Nations)

### Delaware: Wetlands and sewer separation protect the Christina River



Christina River from the Riverfront Trail across from South Wilmington. Credit: Tim Kiser

#### Problem

The Christina River in Wilmington reminds residents of the city's rich shipping, transportation, and industrial history, while providing residents a place to walk along the tidal river. Southbridge, a historically Black community in Wilmington on the banks of the Christina River, also often associates the river with chronic flooding and sewage overflows backing up into residents' basements.<sup>87</sup>

The city utilizes a combined sewer system, prone to overflows during rain events, which contributes to neighborhood and residential flooding. During severe events, 12.6 acres of Southbridge experience flooding, and approximately 2.1 million gallons of combined sewage and stormwater overflow into the neighborhood.<sup>88</sup>

#### Solution

To address these flooding and pollution problems, the city of Wilmington is restoring 14 acres of wetlands and separated 36 acres of combined sewer pipes.<sup>89</sup>

The wetlands reduce pollution threats by replacing one of the largest contaminated sites in the city.<sup>90</sup> After safely removing contaminated soil and invasive species, introducing native species to fill the wetland park with vibrant marsh, meadow, and forest habitats.<sup>91</sup> These native species are more effective than invasive plants at trapping and filtering stormwater before it is released into the Christina River.

Additionally, the city is separating 36 acres of combined sewer pipes to direct stormwater to the new wetland park.<sup>92</sup>

#### Result

The stormwater wetland is expected to reduce acres of neighborhood flooding by 96 percent<sup>93</sup> and the CSO separation will eliminate combined sewage and stormwater backups.<sup>94</sup> The park will also provide a recreational trail through the wetland for residents to walk and bike.

Local nonprofit organizations are already utilizing the park to educate Southbridge residents on the importance of wetlands in their ecosystem, youth activities in nature, and youth employment opportunities.<sup>95</sup> These programs are designed to increase community appreciation of the Christina River as pollution levels decrease and more outdoor recreation opportunities become available.

#### Funding

The projected total cost of this project is \$25 million,<sup>96</sup> with funding from local, state, and federal sources.<sup>97</sup>

### Maryland: Hospital green infrastructure to reduce pollution in Chesapeake Bay watershed

#### Problem

Home to blue crabs and bald eagles, the Chesapeake Bay is the most productive estuary in North America and provides endless opportunities for boating, fishing, swimming, and hiking along its shores. Unfortunately, an overload of nutrient pollution causes a perennial dead zone to form in the bay, putting the ecosystem at risk.

The MedStar Harbor Hospital (MHH) sits on the banks of the Middle Branch of the Patapsco River in Baltimore, MD. Its 18-acre campus of impervious surfaces once sent 20 million gallons of nutrient-laden stormwater runoff into the Patapsco, which flows into the Bay.<sup>98</sup>

#### **Solution**

MHH and its partners developed a green infrastructure master plan to reduce the amount of polluted stormwater runoff it contributed to the river.<sup>99</sup> The project, completed in 2018 by Blue Water Baltimore, retrofitted four of the hospital's major parking lots with green stormwater management. Two rain gardens, 12 vegetated stormwater basins, 81 new trees, and over 16,000 square feet of conservation landscaping using native plants<sup>100</sup> trap and filter stormwater before it drains into the Patapsco. The parking lots and driveways were fitted with drains and ditches, some vegetated, to help divert stormwater into these systems.<sup>101</sup>

#### Result

This green infrastructure park traps and filters stormwater from the hospital's campus before it reaches the river.<sup>102</sup> The project is estimated to annually prevent 39 pounds of nitrogen, six pounds of phosphorus, and 1.2 tons of sediment from entering the river.<sup>103</sup>

In addition to managing stormwater runoff, the project improved pedestrian safety and accessibility.<sup>104</sup> The redesigned waterfront area attracts large crowds during Baltimore events such as Independence Day fireworks, and is easily accessible from the Middle Branch Park bike trail that crosses the MHH campus.



Conservation landscaping using native plants before bloom. Credit: Blue Water Baltimore

#### Funding

The total cost of implementation was \$1.2 million. Funding sources include two Chesapeake Bay Trust grants and funding from the Maryland Department of Natural Resources'<sup>105</sup> Chesapeake and Atlantic Coastal Bays Trust Fund.



Vegetated stormwater basin in parking lot after planting. Credit: Blue Water Baltimore

### EPA Region 4: (AL, FL, GA, KY, MS, NC, SC, TN, and 6 Tribal Nations)

### Florida: Green infrastructure protects Roberts Bay<sup>106</sup>



Aerial view of Roberts Bay. Credit: Amanda Dominguez

#### **Problem**

Roberts Bay in northwest Sarasota County flows out towards the area's white sand beaches and is prized for boating, fishing, and wildlife viewing.<sup>107</sup> The surrounding 65 acre basin drains into the bay and is predominantly urbanized and residential.

In 1998 Roberts Bay was listed as impaired for nutrients. Likely sources of pollution included four domestic wastewater treatment plants in the region, septic systems, and surface water runoff. In 2005 Roberts Bay was verified as impaired for excess nutrients.

#### **Solution**

To reduce nutrients, filtration systems known as baffle boxes were installed along storm pipes to trap trash and sediment-rich nutrients before the stormwater is discharged into the bay. Additionally a pump station, sewer enlargements, and inlet traps were installed to trap trash and organic debris.

#### Results

The water infrastructure improvements resulted in an estimated annual reduction of 267 pounds of nitrogen, 186 pounds of phosphorus, and 53,892 pounds of total suspended solids.

After this project was completed in 2006, water quality data showed nutrient reduction, leading to Roberts Bay's removal from the list of impaired waterways in 2010.

Yet more infrastructure investment is needed to make Roberts Bay clean. It was relisted for excess nitrogen in 2013,<sup>108</sup> and the county needs to improve its wastewater treatment systems to reduce sewage pollution from unauthorized discharges.<sup>109</sup>

Reduction in stormwater runoff pollutants is especially critical in areas that flow out to popular beaches for swimming and recreation locations such as Roberts Bay. Clean water at Roberts Bay and around Florida is essential for public health and a thriving natural environment.

#### Funding

Project implementation, monitoring, and education was funded by \$1.6 million in Clean Water Act section 319(h) funds and \$5.2 million in local funds.

### North Carolina: Sanitary sewer improvements to prevent sewer overflows

#### Problem

Parmele sits along the Flat Swamp waterway, part of the Tar-Pamlico River watershed, which feeds into the Pamlico estuary known for its highly productive commercial and recreational fishing.<sup>110</sup> Unfortunately, Flat Swamp receives contaminants from sewer overflows from a failing sewer system and septic systems. Aging sewer lines in the town overflow and discharge sewage near a Flat Swamp tributary.<sup>111</sup> Additionally, several residents rely on failing septic systems, or septic systems placed in low-lying, flood prone areas,<sup>112</sup> which discharge untreated sewage into the environment.

Like so many small, rural towns with shrinking population, limited utility customer base, and poorer status,<sup>113</sup> Parmele struggles to pay for operations and maintenance of its water infrastructure. Additional funding in the form of grants facilitated remediation of sewage overflows and water pollution near Flat Swamp.<sup>114</sup>

#### **Solution**

To eliminate sewer overflows, Parmele is undertaking three sewer improvement projects. The first two projects will rehabilitate the existing sewer system to stop sewer infiltration that causes overflows. This project includes pump station renovations, sewer line rehabilitation to reduce the amount of water entering the pipes, and manhole renovations to prevent sewage from escaping in the case of pipe backups or overflows.<sup>115</sup>

The third project to remediate failing septic systems will get underway once the first projects are completed and the sewer system can accommodate new hookups.<sup>116</sup> It will extend the existing sewer system to reach 23 new homes to resolve the problem of failing septic systems and those in flood prone areas.<sup>117</sup>



Groundbreaking ceremony, Parmele, 7/27/2018. Congressman G. K. Butterfield, State Senator Erica Smith, State Representative Shelly Willingham and DEQ's Division of Water Infrastructrue Director Kim Colson joined Parmele Mayor Jerry McCrary and several other Parmele-area leaders to celebrate sewer system rehabilitation and renovation in Parmele. Credit: North Carolina Department of Environmental Quality

#### Result

These projects are expected to remediate contamination from the failing sewer system and flood-prone septic systems. Keeping E. coli out of the Flat Swamp tributary will preserve water quality and protect public health.

#### Funding

These three sewer improvement projects cost over \$2.8 million dollars, with funding provided by two North Carolina Wastewater State Reserve Grants and a Community Development Block Grant for infrastructure. These projects were made possible through the availability of grant funding for communities with a limited customer base and economically distressed status.<sup>118</sup>

### Alabama: Green infrastructure restores Mill Creek<sup>119</sup>

#### Problem

Mill Creek is a waterway in eastern Alabama that runs through Auburn University's campus and discharges into the Chattahoochee River in Phenix City. Its predominantly urban watershed was experiencing an increase in development and loss of riparian buffers, leading to increased stormwater runoff pollution of nutrients, sediments, and pathogens. By 2010, Mill Creek was listed on the Clean Water Act (CWA) section 303(d) list as too polluted to fully support fish and wildlife.

#### **Solution**

From 2011 to 2016, the Alabama Cooperative Extension System and Auburn University coordinated a two-phased remediation plan that employed natural infrastructure to trap and filter stormwater before it reached the creek. This green infrastructure included vegetated stormwater basins and channels, rain gardens, and wetlands designed to absorb stormwater.

Additionally, a septic tank pump-out program and a stormwater education program were implemented to further reduce water pollution.

#### **Results**

Thanks to these projects, Mill Creek is once again clean enough to support fish and wildlife. The green infrastructure implemented around Mill Creek increased the amount of stormwater able to soak into the ground and decreased the volume of urban runoff. Vegetation in these projects takes in nutrients from the stormwater, therefore decreasing nutrients and organic matter in the creek.

In 2018, Mill Creek was removed from the CWA 303(d) list upon meeting water quality standards. Now, the creek is accessible and better appreciated by the community. It now serves as an outdoor classroom at Auburn University<sup>120</sup> and a local nonprofit, Friends of Mill Creek, hosts cleanups and native planting workshops.<sup>122</sup>



Mill Creek erosion control. Credit: EPA

#### Funding

More than \$500,000 of federal funding for this project came from Clean Water Act section 319(h) grants and a National Fish and Wildlife Foundation grant, and watershed partners provided matching funds.

# EPA Region 5: (IL, IN, MI, MN, OH, WI, and 33 Tribal Nations)

### Illinois: Stormwater storage helps restore the Chicago River

#### **Problem**

The Chicago and Calumet River Systems that flow through Chicago helped turn the city into the metropolis it is today. However, given its history of pollution, including from the city's untreated wastewater, Chicago has been working to clean up these river systems since at least 1855 when the city constructed one the country's first sewer systems.<sup>123</sup>

Around 100 years later, the river systems regularly received runoff pollution and untreated sewage from the combined sewer systems the city then relied on. Combined sewer overflows occurred 50-100 times per year beginning in the 1960s into the Chicago River.<sup>124</sup> Chicago's sewage and stormwater overflows would flood highway underpasses and basements unless the water was discharged into the river untreated. Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago (MWRD) may release this contaminated flood water into Lake Michigan during severe floods, which forced swimming bans and threatened drinking water due to high fecal bacteria levels.<sup>125</sup>

#### **Solution**

As part of a consent decree to limit sewer overflows, MWRD created the Tunnel and Reservoir Plan (TARP), which included tunnels and the Thornton Composite Reservoir to transport and store excess stormwater and sewage. In 2006, 109 miles of tunnels were constructed under the Chicago region, providing 2.3 billion gallons of water storage.<sup>126</sup>

The Thornton Composite Reservoir can hold 7.9 billion gallons of storage in the retired portion of an old quarry.<sup>127</sup> It is the largest portion of TARP completed to date, and the largest combined sewer reservoir in the world as of 2016.<sup>128</sup>



TARP Reservoir,. Credit: MWRD

The reservoir collects water from tunnels before pumping it to the Calumet Water Reclamation Plant for treatment when capacity allows. This plant was upgraded to disinfect the water it treats in order to protect public health and allow a variety of recreational uses in the Chicago Area Waterway System where it discharges.

#### Result

As of 2017, the Thornton Composite Reservoir has prevented more than 38 billion gallons of sewage from polluting local waterways.<sup>129</sup>

The reservoir and adjoining tunnels captured more than 99 percent of combined sewer overflow discharges.<sup>130</sup> In 2018, there were no combined sewer overflows into the Calumet River Systems. To further reduce water pollution, MWRD plans to expand TARP and install green infrastructure.<sup>131</sup>

Thanks to TARP and other steps, cleaner water has helped the recovery of fish and wildlife in Chicago waterways.<sup>132</sup> Cleaner water is also bringing new life to Chicago's downtown riverwalk:

"Today, on a sunny summer day, local families and tourists vie for space in kayaks, yachts, and rented pontoons on the river's Main Branch, while along the shore, fishermen cast their lines, and groups of friends sip wine, sitting close enough to dip their toes in the water. Further from downtown, great blue herons, muskrats, and river otters leap in and out of the river."<sup>133</sup>

Perhaps with further investments in green infrastructure, Chicagoans will one day even be able to safely swim in this recovering river.

#### Funding

TARP will cost a projected \$3.8 billion upon completion, including the cost for tunnels, the Thornton Reservoir, and the new McCook Reservoir currently underway.<sup>134</sup>



Kayakers along the Chicago Riverwalk. Credit: Don Harder via Flickr

### **Ohio: Cleveland's green infrastructure helps prevent pollution of Lake Erie**

#### Problem

Cleveland sits on the shores of Lake Erie, the fourth largest Great Lake and a destination for residents and visitors to boat, fish, and swim. The Cuyahoga River, which flows through Cleveland before discharging into Lake Erie, famously caught fire in 1969. And while this incident helped spur adoption of the federal Clean Water Act in 1972, Cleveland's combined sewer system continued to pollute the Cuyahoga and Lake Erie for decades. Cleveland discharged an estimated 9 billion gallons of combined sewage into Lake Erie in the 1970s. In 2015, there were still 4.1 billion gallons of combined sewage discharged annually into the lake.<sup>135</sup>



Cleveland skyline over Lake Erie. Credit: Erik Drost

#### **Solution**

Then, the Clean Water Act came back to rescue the Cuyahoga River (and Lake Erie), as the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency used the law to compel the Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District (NEORSD) to create Project Clean Lake, a 25-year plan to greatly reduce its combined sewage discharges.<sup>136</sup> The plan includes a combination of green infrastructure, stormwater storage tunnels, and wastewater treatment plant upgrades and expansion. Nine green infrastructure projects were designed to reduce combined sewer overflows by at least 44 million gallons.<sup>137</sup>

As one of the nine projects, the Fleet Avenue Green Infrastructure project converted vacant land into a rain garden.<sup>138</sup> Using sand already on the project site and native plants, the garden allows stormwater from the surrounding 15 acres of mostly impervious surfaces to soak into the ground.<sup>139</sup>

#### Result

The rain garden at Fleet Avenue removes 4.8 million gallons of stormwater from the combined sewer system every year.<sup>140</sup> Altogether, the nine green infrastructure projects in Cleveland capture an estimated 121.2 million gallons of stormwater per year, which currently prevents 59.1 million gallons of combined sewer overflows. However, the volume captured is expected to decrease to 15.7 million gallons per year after completion of a storage tunnel.<sup>141</sup>

Project Clean Lake will reduce pollution into Lake Erie by 4 billion gallons every year.<sup>142</sup>

#### Funding

Project Clean Lake's green infrastructure projects (including the Fleet Avenue rain garden) cost \$57.7 million.<sup>143</sup>



TARP Reservoir. Credit: MWRD

### Wisconsin: Milwaukee is turning to green infrastructure to protect Lake Michigan



Milwaukee from Lake Michigan. Credit: Pixabay



Graphic rendering of Milwaukee Underpass green stormwater infratructure park design. Credit: Human Nature and Stand Associates

#### Problem

Milkwaukee sits on Lake Michigan, which offers surfing, sailing, and strolling along the RiverWalk.<sup>144</sup> But like many cities in the Great Lakes region, Milwaukee still uses some combined sewer systems, which are prone to overflow.<sup>145</sup> Since 1994, the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District (MMSD) substantially reduced its sewage overflows by upgrading its water infrastructure,<sup>146</sup> but more work is needed. In 2018 and 2020, the district reported spikes in overflows— 1.2 and 21.7billion gallons, respectively.<sup>147</sup> Intensifying storms and increased rainfall are driving this spike. MMSD is now looking to completely eliminate overflows by 2035.<sup>148</sup>

#### **Solution**

Having spent considerable sums on grey "end of pipe" solutions, MMSD is now turning to green infrastructure to meet its goal of eliminating overflows. One project is being designed to turn a 16-acre site beneath Interstate 794 into a green stormwater management park that will trap and filter runoff from the freeway's bridges.<sup>149</sup> The project's preliminary master plan includes a pre-treatment and treatment vegetated basins, and a meadow with native vegetation.<sup>150</sup>

#### Result

When finalized, the park is expected to be capable of capturing 293,000 gallons of stormwater from six acres of the above freeway<sup>151</sup> that would otherwise add to the combined sewer system.

And Milwaukee aims to go further. Mayor Tom Barrett's Green Infrastructure Plan has a goal of absorbing 36 million gallons of stormwater by 2030. Reaching that laudable goal will require further investment.<sup>152</sup>

#### Funding

The current budget for construction of this green infrastructure project is approximately \$2.26 million.<sup>153</sup>

# EPA Region 6: (NM, TX, OK, AR, LA, and 66 Tribal Nations)

### Texas: Guadalupe River restored following wastewater infrastructure upgrade<sup>154</sup>



Guadalupe River. Credit: Jonathan Cutrer via Wikimedia

#### **Problem**

Swimming and tubing on the Guadalupe River above Canyon Lake is an essential summer activity in central Texas, but in 2002 the river was often unsafe due to excessive levels of E. coli threatening the health of people enjoying the river.

A 3.5-mile stretch of the Guadalupe in the City of Kerrville had too much bacteria for safe swimming, and so it was listed on the state's Clean Water Act (CWA) 303(d) list of impaired waterways. Stormwater runoff and sewage leaks from failing septic and municipal wastewater systems are the primary sources of pollution, according to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality (TCEQ).

#### **Solution**

To prevent the overflows contributing to bacterial pollution, aging and failing wastewater collection infrastructure was repaired or replaced throughout the city. Improvements included 42,675 feet of degraded sewer line, 16 lift stations to transport sewage without leakage, and 100 manholes through which sewage would overflow when the sewer pipes flooded. Tree roots were removed from the vicinity to prevent future damage to the sewer pipes that would cause excess water to enter the pipes and lead to sewage backups and overflows.

In addition to wastewater infrastructure, best management practices such as pet waste stations and bird deterrent structures were used to further reduce runoff contaminants.

#### **Results**

These changes sufficiently reduced bacterial pollution to make this section of the Guadalupe River safe for swimming again. With the return of clean water, Kerrville is once again inviting people to the Guadalupe River to cool off through swimming, paddling, and relaxing by the shores at annual music festivals and celebrations that draw both locals and tourists.<sup>155</sup>

#### Funding

The wastewater improvement projects cost the City of Kerrville \$22 million, and \$329,000 from federal clean water programs helped fund best management practices.

# Texas: Stormwater infrastructure protects San Marcos River

#### **Problem**

The headwaters of the San Marcos River headwaters are a prized feature of the city of San Marcos. The waters are a place for swimming and fishing, as well as habitat for endangered species such as the Fountain Darter and the Texas Blind Salamander.<sup>156</sup>

This central Texas city understands the value of its waterway, and strives to prevent stormwater runoff pollution from reaching the river to protect its clean water. Stormwater runoff can contain pollutants such as excess sediments, bacteria, and nutrients, which could make the water unsafe for swimming or destroy the habitats of its endangered species.

#### **Solution**

The CM Allen Parkway in San Marcos runs parallel to the San Marcos River. When the parkway required updates<sup>157</sup> the city used the construction as an opportunity to protect the river's clean water.



CM Allen Parkway after completion. Credit: City of San Marcos



Focal Point biofiltration system. Credit: Convergent Water Tech

The road's redesign included nature-based stormwater management features. Traditional vegetated stormwater management and FocalPoint filtration systems were installed along road medians and edges. Using native plants and soil that allowed rainwater to soak into the ground, these features filter stormwater runoff from the roadway and downtown area before it reaches the river.<sup>158</sup>

Additionally, the Hutchinson stormwater pond that sits between CM Parkway and the San Marcos River was repaired to maximize nutrient uptake to further reduce pollution to the river.<sup>159</sup>

#### Results

These filtration systems along CM Parkway along with the Hutchinson stormwater pond are estimated to remove approximately 10,840 pounds of suspended solids every year.<sup>160</sup> They will also significantly reduce E. coli levels, nitrogen, and phosphorus.<sup>161</sup>

Due to continuous efforts to protect water quality, the San Marcos River in San Marcos remains a point of pride for locals, and attracts tourists to paddle, boat, and learn about the region's history.<sup>162</sup>

#### Funding

The CM Allen Parkway project, including road improvements and green infrastructure, cost the City of San Marcos approximately \$3.35 million.<sup>163</sup>

# **EPA Region 7:** (IA, KO, NE, KS, and 9 Tribal Nations)

### Missouri: Kansas City green solutions to clean up the Blue River

#### **Problem**

Blue River is a tributary to the Missouri River that runs through Kansas City, Missouri and Kansas City, Kansas and has miles of walking and biking trails along its banks. Unfortunately, the river is polluted by stormwater runoff and failing sewer treatment plants. At times the lower reaches of the Blue River are "so grossly polluted" by sewage that fish cannot survive.<sup>164</sup>

The sewage system of Kansas City, Missouri is one of the largest in the country–featuring 7 treatment plants, 38 pumping stations and nearly 3,000 miles of sewer lines over 420 square miles.<sup>165</sup> Between 2002 and 2010, the city experienced thousands of sewage spills from the combined sewers and other failing sewer systems. These overflows resulted in an estimated 7 billion gallons of raw sewage into local waterways, including Blue River and the Missouri River.<sup>166</sup>



Vegetated stormwater retention basin, curb extension. Credit: Kansas City Water Services

#### **Solution**

The Middle Blue River Basin Green Solutions Pilot Project was the first green infrastructure project in Kansas City's Overflow Control Program, an effort to reduce combined sewer overflows as required by a consent decree.<sup>167</sup> The project, implemented in 2012, included approximately 135 vegetated best management practices (BMPs) included 81 rain gardens, 53 vegetated stormwater basins, and one 2,000 square foot vegetated stormwater channel.<sup>168</sup> All of these systems utilize soil and native plants to trap and filter stormwater runoff. It also included 27,490 square feet of permeable and porous sidewalks and gutters to reduce stormwater runoff by allowing it to soak into the ground.<sup>169</sup>

Additionally, the Overflow Control Program repaired, lined, or cleaned out more than 20,000 linear feet of sewer pipes to prevent overflows.<sup>170</sup>

#### Result

After project completion, there was a measured reduction of 292,000 gallons of stormwater reaching the project area's combined sewer outflow, which curbed peak flow by 76 percent.<sup>171</sup> This effectively keeps stormwater out of the combined sewer system to reduce the chance of sewage overflows.

Local residents were engaged throughout the project, and residents described a surge in community pride following the project, and an increase in community engagement on actions to continue to improve their neighborhood.<sup>172</sup>

#### Funding

The total cost of design and construction was \$10.4 million, $^{173}$  with funding from local and federal sources. $^{174}$ 

# Missouri: South Creek restored using natural solutions



South Creek before restoration. Credit: City of Springfield and James River Basin Partnership



South Creek after restoration, with vegetated stormwater filtration systems at outfalls along creek. Credit: City of Springfield and James River Basin Partnership

#### Problem

South Creek in Springfield was a favored fishing spot for bluegill and sun-perch in the 1970s. Just one decade later, one mile of the creek was paved into a straight, concrete channel that received stormwater discharge from approximately 40 outlets.<sup>175</sup> South Creek contributed an annual 15.2 million pounds of sediment, 13,800 pounds of phosphorus, and 60,000 pounds of nitrogen to rivers downstream, according to the James River Basin Partnership (JRBP).<sup>176</sup> Monitoring of South Creek showed inadequate aquatic life, indicating poor water quality or lack of habitat.<sup>177</sup>

#### **Solution**

The city of Springfield completed a restoration project for the channelized stretch of stream.<sup>178</sup> In addition to removing concrete and adding features of natural Ozarks streams, sections of the stream below stormwater discharge pipes were excavated and seeded to slow stormwater runoff and filter pollutants. Around eight acres of native species were planted to provide water filtration services. One hundred native trees were planted along the stream corridor to provide shade and a riparian buffer.<sup>179</sup> To complement this project, Springfield Public Works planted native species in the median of a major road that runs along South Creek.<sup>180</sup> This will further trap and filter stormwater.

#### **Results**

These improvements led to cleaner water. Aquatic life monitoring data for two of the three testing sites along the project area improved to "good" or "excellent."<sup>181</sup> As water quality improves, fish once common to the creek are returning.<sup>182</sup>

Volunteers who value the restored river returning to life participate in volunteer clean ups throughout the year to reduce litter. The creek now serves as an educational tool for tours and those recreating on the adjacent greenway trail. JRBP continues aquatic life monitoring at five sites along South Creek to survey water quality twice a year as part of a Missouri Department of Natural Resources 319 Nonpoint Source Project Grant.<sup>183</sup>

#### Funding

The total cost of the project was approximately \$140,000 for design, and \$1.1 million for construction. Funding sources include a Clean Water Act section 319 grant, and state and local funds.<sup>184</sup>

# EPA Region 8: (CO, MT, ND, SD, UT, WY, and 28 Tribal Nations)

### Montana: Wastewater system improvements protect Hebgen Lake



Hebgen Lake. Credit: Michael Matti via Flickr

#### Problem

Hebgen Lake is a premier stillwater fishing lake in Montana featuring brown, cutthroat, and rainbow trout. It is also a popular vacation spot near Yellowstone Park and attracts swimmers, boaters, and paddlers.<sup>185</sup>

However, the lake was at risk for being unsafe for swimming due to contamination from sewage overflows. In 2003 the Montana Department of Environmental Quality (DEQ) found excessive nitrates in nearby wells, indicating a sewage leak from the Hebgen Lake Water and Sewer District (the District).<sup>186</sup> In the early 2010s, the District was one of eight wastewater treatment systems in the county discharging fecal bacteria and nitrate pollution to ground and surface water in the county.<sup>187</sup>

#### Solution

To prevent groundwater pollution, sewage discharges, and reduce human exposure to raw wastewater, the District made several system improvements. In response to the leaks found by DEQ, the station that pipes sewage to the treatment plant was replaced to reduce leakage and increase reliability of wastewater collection. Two man-holes and 60 feet of sewer line were replaced to reduce potential sewage leaks from these outdated structures. The wastewater treatment system was also upgraded to remove a greater amount of nitrogen.<sup>188</sup>

#### Results

The equipment improvements made through this project were anticipated to reduce the risk of sewage backups and spills to protect public health from bacteria in sewage. They were also expected to contribute to surface water quality improvement in Hebgen Lake as well as groundwater quality by eliminating pollution leaking from the source. Safer recreation opportunities and healthier fish populations were additional anticipated benefits of the project.<sup>189</sup>

#### Funding

The total cost of this project was \$1,958,000 from several sources, including state funds, a Water Resources Defense Act Allocation, and three Water Pollution Control State Revolving Fund loans (Montana's Clean Water State Revolving Fund program)<sup>190, 191</sup>

### EPA Region 9: (AZ, CA, HI, NV, Pacific Islands, and 148 Tribal Nations)

### California: New wastewater treatment center to protect Malibu Lagoon State Beach from fecal bacteria

#### Problem

Malibu Lagoon State Beach is a treasured coastal area known nationally for its beauty and world-class surfing opportunities. However, swimmers and surfers must check that beaches are safe for swimming before heading out.

Very recently, many Malibu residents managed their wastewater using septic systems, which regularly leaked untreated sewage into the Malibu lagoon and overflow during storms.<sup>192</sup> When sewage contaminants reached Malibu's famous Surfrider beach, surfers have suffered from waterborne illnesses such as gastrointestinal or respiratory issues, or ear and eye infections.<sup>193</sup>

#### **Solution**

To reduce pollution from septic systems and comply with a resolution from the Los Angeles Regional Water Quality Board prohibiting septic discharges<sup>194</sup> Malibu began constructing a new wastewater treatment facility: the Malibu Civic Center Water Treatment Facility. Once complete, the city will convert the community's 6,000 septic tanks to the sewer system.<sup>195</sup> The project is designed to address local water conservation concerns as well by including a recycled water distribution system and groundwater recharge wells.<sup>196</sup>

#### Result

The first phase of the project was completed in Oct., 2018. The new plant treats an average of 50,000 to 70,000 gallons of wastewater per day, and supplies up to



Malibu Lagoon. Credit: Ellen M. via Flickr

66,500 gallons per day of recycled water.<sup>197</sup> During phase two, scheduled for completion in 2022, the facility's capacity will be nearly doubled to accommodate more residents converting from septic to sewer system.<sup>198</sup>

This project will remove a major pollution source from a valuable coastal area by treating local wastewater to remove harmful nutrients and bacteria. The system is expected to clean up one of the nation's most famous surfing destinations and keep surfers and swimmers healthy while enjoying the water.

#### Funding

Phase one of this project cost nearly \$60.3 million. Funding sources included a loan from the Clean Water State Revolving Fund for just over \$26 million, and separate loan from the Clean Water State Revolving Fund Drought Response program of over \$24.6 million.<sup>199</sup>



Surfer in Malibu. Credit: Terrell Woods

# EPA Region 10: (WA, OR, ID, AK, and 271 Tribal Nations)

### Washington: LOTT wastewater plant eliminates sewage overflows to Puget Sound



Budd Inlet. Credit: Matthew Kowal

#### Problem

The Puget Sound offers vacationers and locals a wide variety of outdoor activities, such as kayaking and a chance to spot iconic wildlife like Southern Resident orcas and the salmon they rely on. Unfortunately, sewage wastewater is contributing excessive nutrients to the Sound, reducing dissolved oxygen in the water that fish need to survive. Approximately 20% of the greater Puget Sound does not meet dissolved oxygen standards due to nitrogen pollution.<sup>200</sup> This causes periodic dead zones and fish kills throughout the Sound.<sup>201,202</sup> With increased population growth and climate change, the region risks enlarging the dead zone and worsening conditions in the sound.

#### Solution

LOTT, a partnership between the governments of Lacy, Olympia, Tumwater, and Thurston County, manages a sewage treatment plant at Budd Inlet originally built in 1952. The facility upgraded in the 1990s to add nitrogen removal and ultraviolet disinfection to produce cleaner wastewater. LOTT now also produces Class A Reclaimed Water to restore groundwater supplies, conserve water in the region,<sup>203</sup> and reduce the amount of treated wastewater discharged by the plant.<sup>204</sup>

Like many coastal treatment plants, LOTT is vulnerable to sea level rise and flooding. To increase resilience and ensure the facility will function for years to come, LOTT engaged in a joint planning effort to prepare the Olympia Sea Level Rise Response Plan in 2018-2019 with the city of Olympia and port of Olympia and is now participating in efforts to implement the plan.<sup>205</sup>



Budd Inlet wastewater treatment plant. Credit: LOTT Clean Water Alliance

#### Result

The LOTT treatment plant now regularly removes more than the required level of nitrogen from its discharge, releasing only 52 percent<sup>206</sup> of permitted nitrogen during the summer, and is a model for what is possible in the region.<sup>207</sup> With one possible exception LOTT has had no combined sewer overflows into Budd Inlet since 2009.<sup>208</sup>

While LOTT is a model for nitrogen removal, many wastewater treatment plants in the region are failing to address their nitrogen pollution and contribute to degraded water quality. Stormwater remains the number one source of toxic pollution to Puget Sound.<sup>209</sup> Strengthening Clean Water Act permits, controlling combined sewer overflows, and controlling stormwater are all important parts of improving the health of the sound. This work requires significant investment in clean water infrastructure, and Washington needs federal support to help protect clean water.

#### Funding

Advanced nitrogen removal upgrades to the LOTT treatment plant were paid for in part by two loans totalling over \$33 million from the state of Washing-ton Water Pollution Control Revolving Fund, which receives funding through federal State Revolving Fund allocations.<sup>210</sup>

Special thanks to Alyssa Barton of Puget Soundkeeper Alliance for her support researching and drafting this case study.

### Oregon: Portland's waterways restored by Big Pipe Project and green infrastructure

#### Problem

Portland is a place of convergence of two major waterways, the Willamette River and Columbia River, and the Columbia Slough—a tributary of the Willamette River prized by Portlanders for recreation. Despite their value to wildlife and people, the Willamette and the Columbia Slough suffered from a long history of industrial and wastewater pollution that made them unsuitable for fish and human recreation. Even as recently as 1990, Portland's combined sewer systems dumped an annual average of six billion gallons of overflow into the Willamette River and Columbia Slough.<sup>211</sup> A local resident recalls seeing "floaters" from sewage in the Willamette due to the regular combined sewer overflows.<sup>212</sup>

#### **Solution**

In response to a legal order to limit combined sewer overflows, in 1991 Portland began a two-part project to reduce and manage stormwater runoff.

One part, the Cornerstone Projects, used green infrastructure to reduce stormwater before reaching the combined sewer system. Projects included downspout disconnections, 3,000 stormwater catch basins, and local stream diversions from the combined system. In addition, the city separated the sewer system in some neighborhoods with new pipes.<sup>213</sup>



Downspout disconnection as part of the Cornerstone Projects. Credit: City of Portland

The second part of the project built three "Big Pipes" to convey and pump stormwater and sewage to the city's main treatment plant. This treatment plant was updated to treat the increase in stormwater from captured overflows.<sup>214</sup>

#### Results

The Cornerstone Projects greatly reduced stormwater entering the combined sewer system. Stream diversion removed around 165 million gallons of stormwater annually.<sup>215</sup> Downspout disconnections removed more than 1.2 billion gallons annually from the system. The creation of stormwater catch basins and sewer separations further reduced combined sewer overflows, for a total reduction of about 35 percent.<sup>216</sup>

Altogether, the Cornerstone and Big Pipe Projects reduced combined sewage discharges into the Willamette River and Columbia Slough by 94 percent and 99 percent, respectively.<sup>217</sup>

Today, the Willamette River and Columbia Slough are much safer for all types of recreation.<sup>218</sup> A local nonprofit, Human Access Project, hosts an annual "Big Float" to celebrate the Willamette's restoration with residents swimming, floating, boating, and relaxing on its shores.<sup>219</sup> The City of Portland Bureau of Environmental Services conducts weekly bacteria tests in the Willamette River in the summertime to ensure it is safe for swimming.<sup>220</sup> Resident now paddle on the Columbia



Swimmer dives into the cleaner Willamette River. Credit: Diane Dulken of with City of Portland

Slough, where wildlife–including coho and chinook salmon–now thrive.<sup>221</sup>

While these results are impressive, it is also sobering that these projects were not begun until 1991, and it took 20 years to complete them. With more robust federal funding for water infrastructure, hopefully waters like the Willamette can be cleaned up much sooner, before entire generations of children miss out on safely swimming or floating in a local river or stream.

#### Funding

Portland's Big Pipe Project, including the green infrastructure Cornerstone Projects, cost \$1.4 billion.<sup>222</sup>

## **Policy Recommendations**

early fifty years ago, our nation set a goal in the Clean Water Act of having all our waterways clean and safe for swimming. To reach this goal, America's water infrastructure must effectively protect water quality, communities, and public health. It should manage stormwater and wastewater, and must rise to the challenges that growing populations, increased development, and extreme weather will put on these systems. Unfortunately, this is often not the case.

Protecting clean water by updating and improving our infrastructure requires significant resources. With current strains on state and municipal budgets, it is more important now than ever for federal policy makers to invest in clean water.

Investing in water infrastructure makes dramatic improvements in water quality, decreases in sewage overflows, and flood reduction possible. To ensure long term improvements, policy makers must provide clean water funding that addresses common pollution sources. This funding should prioritize green infrastructure that not only reduces sewer overflows but also prevents pollutants from directly running off into our waterways.

Policymakers should:

## Prevent stormwater runoff pollution.

• Dramatically increase federal investment in natural and green infrastructure practices— such as rain gardens, permeable surfaces, and urban greens-pace— that prevent bacteria-laden pollution from reaching waterways.

- Protect and restore natural infrastructure, including riparian areas and wetlands that can filter bacteria, sediment, and nutrients.
- Support increased capacity of stormwater systems, water and energy conservation, and nature-based or green infrastructure to promote resilience, the ability to continue functioning successfully, to manage changing weather patterns and rising sea levels.
- Require new development and redevelopment to prevent runoff pollution.

## Prevent sewage pollution

- Dramatically increase investment in fixing aging sewage systems to end sewage overflows, flooding and other pollution harmful to our waterways.
- Support and prioritize the use of green infrastructure to prevent sewage overflows.
- Set standards for municipal wastewater treatment strong enough to prevent overflows and keep our waterways clean, and ensure compliance with those standards.
- Upgrade wastewater facilities that are in danger of overflowing during storms and floods to ensure that they are resilient, or still functioning properly, amid changing weather patterns and sea level rise.
- Ensure more frequent inspections and proper maintenance of residential septic systems.

Policy makers must also take steps to ensure that clean water funding is accessible to all communities. Current barriers to clean water funding can prevent smaller, more rural communities from implementing projects and practices that protect their residents and water from harmful pollutants. Rural or urban, large or small, all communities play a critical role in the health of our waterways.

However, even dramatic increases in water infrastructure funding will be for naught if we do not also provide our waterways with strong protections against pollution and degradation. Federal policymakers should set policies that dramatically curtail pollution from other sources—including power plants, factory farms, and oil and gas operations. And as an immediate priority, U.S. EPA and the Army Corps of Engineers must restore Clean Water Act protections for our streams, which feed our larger waterways, and for our wetlands, which filter out pollutants and prevent flooding.

If we invest boldly and wisely in water infrastructure and curb pollution from other sources, we can finally make all of America's waterways safe and clean.

## Citations

1 2017 Infrastructure Report Card (Rep.). (2020, January). Retrieved October, 2020, from American Society of Civil Engineers website: https://www.infrastructurereportcard.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/01/Wastewater-Final.pdf

2 Clean Watersheds Needs Survey (CWNS)–2012 Report and Data. Environmental Protection Agency. Can be found here: https://www.epa.gov/cwns/clean-watersheds-needs-survey-cwns-2012-report-and-data

- 3 See note 1
- 4 See note 2

5 Environmental Protection Agency, Office of Water. (2016, January 13). EPA Survey Shows \$271 Billion Needed for Nation's Wastewater Infrastructure [Press release]. Retrieved from https://archive.epa.gov/epa/newsreleases/epa-survey-shows-271-billion-needed-nations-wastewater-infrastructure.html

6 The Economic Benefits of Investing in Water Infrastructure (2017). The Value of Water Campaign. Can be found at: http:// thevalueofwater.org/sites/default/files/Economic%20Impact%20 of%20Investing%20in%20Water%20Infrastructure\_VOW\_ FINAL\_pages.pdf

7 Eskaf, S. (2015, September 9). Four Trends in Government Spending on Water and Wastewater Utilities Since 1956 (Publication). Retrieved http://efc.web.unc.edu/2015/09/09/four-trends-government-spending-water/.

8 Fraser, M. (2020, September 28). Death by the Thousands: Biscayne Bay's Fish Kill Event. Retrieved October 29, 2020, from https://www.ecomagazine.com/in-depth/featured-stories/ death-by-the-thousands-biscayne-bay-s-fish-kill-event 9 Stewart Rumley, V. (2020, October 24). Ongoing fish kills raise concerns. Retrieved October 29, 2020, from https://www.thewashingtondailynews.com/2020/10/24/ongoing-fish-kills-raise-concerns/

10 H. (2018, November 06). Mapping Harmful Algal Outbreaks Helps Combat Future Threat. Retrieved October 29, 2020, from https://healthylakes.org/success\_stories/mapping-harmful-algal-outbreaks-helps-combat-future-threat/.

11 Harmful Algal Blooms (HABs) in the Great Lakes [PDF]. (n.d.). National Oceanic and Atmospheric Administration. Can be found at https://www.glerl.noaa.gov/pubs/brochures/NOAA\_ HABs\_in\_Great\_Lakes.pdf

12 Weissman, G., & Rumpler, J. (n.d.). Safe for Swimming (2020 ed., Rep.). Environment America Research and Policy Center, Frontier Group. https://environmentamerica.org/sites/ environment/files/reports/Safe-for-Swimming\_2020/WEB\_ AME\_SafeForSwimming\_2020.pdf, 9.

13 Kunkler, A. (2019, June 12). E. coli levels keep Juanita Beach closed for days. Retrieved October 29, 2020, from https:// www.kirklandreporter.com/news/e-coli-levels-keep-juanita-beachclosed-for-day

14 Coastal Land Cover Change Summary Report: 1996– 2010 (Rep.). (n.d.). Retrieved https://coast.noaa.gov/data/digitalcoast/pdf/landcover-report-summary.pdf

15 See note 13

16 Walsh, J. et al. (n.d.). Heavy Downpours Increasing. Retrieved November 02, 2020, from https://nca2014.globalchange.gov/report/our-changing-climate/heavy-downpours-increasing  Blair, A., & Sanger, D. (2016). Climate Change and
 Watershed Hydrology–Heavier Precipitation Influence on Stormwater Runoff. Geosciences, 6(3), 34. https://www.mdpi.com/2076-3263/6/3/34/htm, discussion session.

18 An Assessment of the Impacts of Climate Change on the Great Lakes (Rep.). (2019, March). Retrieved https://web. archive.org/web/20200720153609/http://elpc.org/wp-content/ uploads/2019/03/Great-Lakes-Climate-Change-Report.pdf, 18-19.

19 "emerging issues" Estepp, L. R., & Reavie, E. D. (2015). The ecological history of Lake Ontario according to phytoplankton. Journal of Great Lakes Research, 41(3), 669-687. https:// www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0380133015001331, Summary

20 "Report to Congress on Impacts and Control of Combined Sewer Overflows and Sanitary Sewer Overflows."U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Aug. 2004, archived at https:// web.archive.org/web/20200331175437/https://www.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2015-10/documents/csossortc2004\_full.pdf

21 "Combined Sewer Overflow Frequent Questions." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, archived at web.archive.org/ web/20201022211743/www.epa.gov/npdes/combined-sewer-overflow-frequent-questions.

22 "Report to Congress: Combined Sewer Overflows in the Great Lakes Basin." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 2016. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2016-05/documents/gls\_cso\_report\_to\_congress\_-\_4-12-2016.pdf, ES-2.

23 Report to Congress: Combined Sewer Overflows in the Great Lakes Basin." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, April 2016. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2016-05/documents/gls\_cso\_report\_to\_congress\_-\_4-12-2016.pdf

24 "Sanitary Sewer Overflows (SSOs)." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, archived at web.archive.org/ web/20201022212119/www.epa.gov/npdes/sanitary-sewer-overflows-ssos. 25 "National Management Measures to Control Nonpoint Source Pollution from Urban Areas ." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, Nov. 2005, archived at web.archive.org/ web/20170626233512/www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-09/documents/urban\_ch11.pdf.

26 "National Beach Guidance and Required Performance Criteria for Grants, 2014 Edition." 31 July 2014. Can be found at https://nepis.epa.gov/Exe/ZyPDF.cgi/P100KZDK.PDF?Dockey=-P100KZDK.PDF

27 DeFlorio-Barker, Stephanie, et al. "Estimate of Incidence and Cost of Recreational Waterborne Illness on United States Surface Waters." Environmental Health, vol. 17, no. 3, 9 Jan. 2018. Biomed Central, https://bit.ly/3pADej5, Table 3.

28 Weissman, G., & Rumpler, J. (n.d.). Safe for Swimming (2020 ed., Rep.). Environment America Research and Policy Center, Frontier Group. https://environmentamerica.org/sites/ environment/files/reports/Safe-for-Swimming\_2020/WEB\_ AME\_SafeForSwimming\_2020.pdf, 4.

29 "Recreational Water Quality Criteria." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2012. Archived at https://www.epa. gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/documents/rwqc2012.pdf, 6.

30 See note 28

31 Storm water Runoff is not clean water. Wisconsin Department of Natural Resources. Can be found here https://dnr. wisconsin.gov/topic/Stormwater/learn\_more/problems.html

32 "Combined Sewer Overflow Public Notification, Annual Notice 2019." NEORSD, Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District, 1 May. 2020, archived at https://web.archive. org/web/20201023214937/https://www.neorsd.org/I\_Library. php?SOURCE=library/2018%20CSO%20Notification%20 Rule%20Annual%20Notice.pdf&a=download\_file&LIBRARY\_ RECORD\_ID=7431, 3.

33 State of Rhode Island: Department of Environmental Management. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from http:// www.dem.ri.gov/programs/emergencyresponse/bart/nbay.php 34 "The Benefits of Green Infrastructure: Gravel Wet Vegetated Treatment System." Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management, 2014. Can be found at http://www. dem.ri.gov/ri-stormwater-solutions/documents/Bristol-GWVTS-Fact-Sheet.pdf.

35 "State of Rhode Island: Department of Environmental Management." Home- Rhode Island -Department of Environmental Management, www.dem.ri.gov/ri-stormwater-solutions/lid-and-gi/ inventory/more-info/bristol-town-beach.php.

36 Ibid.

37 "The Benefits of Green Infrastructure: Bristol Town Beach Tree Planting." Rhode Island Department of Environmental Management, 2014. Can be found at http://www.dem.ri.gov/ ri-stormwater-solutions/documents/Bristol-Tree-Fact-Sheet.pdf.

38 See note 36

39 Ibid.

40 Ibid.

41 "Bristol's Holistic Approach to Stormwater Management Improves Water Quality." *Flood Science Center*, Association of State Floodplain Managers, Inc., 26 Mar. 2019, www.floodsciencecenter.org/products/crs-community-resilience/success-stories/ bristol-rhode-island/

42 See note 35

43 Facebook page: Bristol Town Beach Recreation Center. (n.d.). Retrieved from https://www.facebook.com/pg/bristolriparkrecreation/events/?ref=page\_internal.

44 Combined Sewer Overflow (CSO). (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.narrabay.com/programs-and-initiatives/combined-sewer-overflow.

45 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Success Stories: Implementing Low Impact Development Practices at Bristol Town Beach Keeps the Beach Open and Improves Offshore Shellfishing Waters." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015. Archived at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-07/documents/ri\_bristol-508.pdf.

46 Passumpsic River. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://newenglandriverworks.com/passumpsic-river.

47 O'Brien, K., & Moore, J. (2016, November 30). Stormwater Master Plan Town of St. Johnsbury, Vermont [PDF]. Stone Environmental. http://www.nvda.net/files/StJohnsbury\_ SWMP\_2016\_11\_30.pdf, 9.

48 Green Stormwater Project in St. Johnsbury Wins Award. (2019, July 11). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.vacd.org/stjohnsbury-gsi-project-wins-award/.

49 Ibid.

50 Wellington, T. (2020, July 25). Raw Sewage Still Being Dumped into Passumpsic River. Retrieved from https:// www.caledonianrecord.com/news/local/raw-sewage-still-beingdumped-into-passumpsic-river/article\_73dff34b-751d-5d82-8217a13d1bdbd218.html

51 Town of St. Johnsbury Water Budget Expenses [PDF]. (n.d.). 2018. Can be found at http://docs.stjvt.com/index.php/town-budget/2018-town-budget/75-2018-19-water-and-sewer-budget-presentation/file, 4.

52 State FY18/19 Capital Request – Vermont/EPA CW & DW SRF Programs [PDF]. (2017, August 2). Can be found at https://legislature.vermont.gov/Documents/2018/WorkGroups/House%20 Corrections%20and%20Institutions/Agency%20of%20Natural%20Resources/W~Eric%20Blatt~ANR%20State%20Capital%20Request%20FY%2018%20and%20FY%2019~2-14-2018. pdf, Search RF1-153.

53 E. (2007, June). Feasibility Study for the Control of Internal Phosphorus Loading in St. Albans Bay [PDF]. Waterbury: Vermont Agency of Natural Resources. Can be found at https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wsm/erp/Champlain/docs/StAlbansBay-FinalReport-Phase1.pdf.

54 Gravel Wetlands: Absorb the Storm [PDF]. (n.d.). VTRANS, Vermont Clean and Clear, Lake Champlain Basin Program. Can be found at https://drive.google.com/file/ d/1SI7EDqa\_Cr6VTsToEPb5tOiSNhZglk8i/view.

55 See note 54

56 "2017 Vermont Stormwater Management Manual Rule," (July 1, 2017) Vermont Agency of Natural Resources. Can be found here: https://dec.vermont.gov/sites/dec/files/wsm/stormwater/docs/ManualUpdate/VSMM\_Vol1\_Merged\_Rule\_and\_Guidance\_CLEAN.pdf, Subchapter 2, page 13. 57 Email from Jennifer Callahan, "your question," 10/16/2020.

58 Portland. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.visitportland.com/blog/2020/01/24/portland-maine-neighborhoods/.

59 Water Equals Clean Growth [PDF]. (n.d.). Portland, ME: City of Portland. Can be found at http://www.portlandmaine. gov/DocumentCenter/View/5393/Presentation—-Clean-Water-Clean-Growth?bidId=, Slide 4.

60 *Portland Plan* 2030 [PDF]. (2017, June 7). Portland, ME: City of Portland. Can be found at http://mainegov.informe.org/ dacf/municipalplanning/comp\_plans/Portland\_2017.pdf, 119.

61 Nitrogen. Friends of Casco Bay, Casco Baykeeper. Can be found here https://www.cascobay.org/our-work/baykeeping/ nitrogen/.

62 A Legacy Problem Combined Sewer Stormwater Overflows Challenges Portland. (n.d.). *Portland Press Herald*. Retrieved January 7, 2018, from https://www.pressherald. com/2018/01/07/a-legacy-problem-combined-sewer-stormwater-overflows-challenges-portland/?rel=related.

63 Portland Plan 2030 [PDF]. (2017, June 7). Portland, ME: City of Portland. Can be found at http://mainegov.informe.org/ dacf/municipalplanning/comp\_plans/Portland\_2017.pdf, 24.

64 Portland Water District. (2018, December 20). Portland Water District advances reduction of nutrient pollution in Casco Bay: Board endorses successful inaugural year of nutrient removal efforts at wastewater plant [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.pwd. org/news/portland-water-district-advances-reduction-nutrient-pollution-casco-bay-board-endorses.

65 Ibid.

66 See note 60, Page 119

67 Portland Water District. (2015, August 31). \$11.4 million modernization project to improve operational performance at the EEWWTF [Press release]. Retrieved from https://www.pwd.org/ news/114-million-modernization-project-improve-operational-performance-eewwtf. 68 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Program Success Story: Menu of Measures is a Recipe for Success." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2016. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/ sites/production/files/2015-11/documents/ct\_edgewoodpark.pdf

69 Ibid.

70 Ibid.

71 Ibid.

72 EPA New England's Review of Connecticut's 2006 Section 303(d) List." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 1, 21 Sept. 2007. Can be found at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/ tmdl\_waters10/attains\_impaired\_waters.show\_list\_approval\_document?p\_list\_approval\_docs\_id=57, 12.

73 "EPA New England's Review of Connecticut's 2014 Section 303(d) List." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Region 1, 17 Nov. 2014. Can be found at https://ofmpub.epa.gov/ tmdl\_waters10/attains\_impaired\_waters.show\_list\_approval\_document?p\_list\_approval\_docs\_id=31, 12.

74 "Edgewood." *New Haven*, *CT–Edgewood*, The City of New Haven`, www.newhavenct.gov/gov/depts/parks/our\_parks/ edgewood.htm.

75 See note 68

76 The State of the Estuary 2018 [PDF]. (2018, July 11). Hudson River Foundation, NY/NJ Harbor & Estuary Program. Can be found at https://www.hudsonriver.org/SOE\_Brochure\_All-Pages\_Final\_110718.pdf, 1.

77 Pre-Design Analysis and Public Engagement Report for Northwest Resiliency Park [PDF]. (n.d.). Hoboken, NJ: The City of Hoboken. Can be found at https://www.dropbox.com/s/jwoabiqll4w34yx/2017\_Hoboken%20NW%20Resiliency%20Park%20 PreDesign%20Analysis%20Report.pdf?dl=0, Slide 43.

78 See note 77, Slide 45

79 Rainfall Flood Mitigation. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://cityofhoboken.maps.arcgis.com/apps/ Cascade/index.html?appid=65c107f7e6984c4ca988c84ae406d27f, "Green+Grey" Tab. 80 Concept Design Public Meeting [PDF]. (n.d.). Hoboken, NJ: The City of Hoboken. Can be found at *Concept Design Public* Meeting [PDF]. (n.d.). Hoboken, NJ: The City of Hoboken. Can be found at https://www.dropbox.com/s/lflf9j71qxnuypg/20180409\_ ConceptDesignMeetingPresentation.pdf?dl=0, 28-29.

81 See note 79, "DSD" Tab.

82 Baer, M., & Baer, M. (2019, June 21). Hoboken will spend more than \$90 million on latest park. Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://hudsonreporter.com/2019/06/21/theprice-of-open-space/.

83 Northwest Resiliency Park. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://nwpark-cityofhoboken.opendata.arcgis. com/pages/project-history.

84 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Program Success Story: New Jersey Green Infrastructure and Restoration Projects Improve Water Quality in the Cooper River." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2015. Can be found at https://bit.ly/2J0G4gL. Note: This serves as source for entire Cooper River case study unless otherwise noted in the report.

85 2016 New Jersey Integrated Water Quality Assessment [PDF]. (2019, December). New Jersey Department of Environmental Protection. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/ files/2020-01/documents/2016\_final\_integrated\_report\_appendix\_b.pdf, 8.

86 Camden County, Cooper River Park, Can be found here https://www.camdencounty.com/service/parks/cooper-river-park/.

87 Schmidt, Sophia. "As Sea Levels Rise, a Wilmington Neighborhood Deals First with Current Flooding." *Delaware Public Media*, 20 Sept. 2019, www.delawarepublic.org/post/sea-levels-rise-wilmington-neighborhood-deals-first-current-flooding.

88 "South Wilmington Combined Sewer Separation & Wetland Restoration Project." *Youtube*, City of Wilmington, Delaware, 16 Jan. 2019, www.youtube.com/watch?v=FKpjVgmfjkU&fe-ature=emb\_title, 0:50.

89 "South Wilmington Wetlands Park." OpenGov, OpenGov, https://stories.opengov.com/wilmingtonde/published/yE5g0n3LJ.

90 "South Wilmington Wetlands Park, Brownfield Remediation." *The City of Wilmington Delaware*, The City of Wilmington, DE, www.wilmingtonde.gov/government/city-departments/public-works/south-wilmington-wetlands-park/brownfield-remediation.

91 "South Wilmington Wetlands Park, Ecosystem and Wildlife." *The City of Wilmington Delaware*, The City of Wilmington, DE, https://www.wilmingtonde.gov/government/ city-departments/public-works/south-wilmington-wetlands-park/ ecosystem-and-wildlife.

92 "South Wilmington Wetlands Park, Flooding." *The City* of Wilmington Delaware, The City of Wilmington, DE, https:// www.wilmingtonde.gov/government/city-departments/public-works/south-wilmington-wetlands-park/flooding

93 Calculation using data from note 88: (12.1 acres/12.6acres)\*100 = 96 percent reduction in flooding

94 See note 88. See time 1:35.

95 "Reaching and Engaging through Nature to Empower Wilmington (RENEW)." *Delaware Nature Society*, 21 July 2020, www.delawarenaturesociety.org/activities/education/reaching-and-engaging-through-nature-to-empower-wilmington-renew/.

96 See note 89.

97 See note 87

98 "Polluted Runoff: Solutions, Clean Water Community Healing Project." Municipal Online Stormwater Training Center. Can be found at https://mostcenter.umd.edu/sites/default/files/ balt\_city\_clean\_water\_community\_healing\_final.pdf

99 Ibid.

100 "Best Retrofit in the Bay: MedStar Harbor Hospital Clean Water Community Healing Project." Best Urban BMP. Information confirmed by Jenn Aiosa at Blue Water Baltimore. Can be found at https://drive.google.com/file/d/1qGhWq-2C6a3IfqJFU82THEA9K-3kctLvr/view?usp=sharing.

- 101 Ibid.
- 102 See note 98
- 103 See note 100
- 104 Ibid.

105 Ibid.

106 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Program Success Story: Retrofits in Roberts Bay Results in Removal of Nutrient Impairment." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2012. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2015-10/ documents/fl\_roberts.pdf. Note: This citation serves as source for the entire Roberts Bay case study unless otherwise noted.

107 "Roberts Bay Sarasota: Overview Water Quality Habitats & Ecology Recreation Photos Related Information." Sarasota County Wateratlas, Sarasota County, https://sarasota.wateratlas.usf. edu/waterbodies/bays/14157/roberts-bay-sarasota.

108 "Comprehensive Verified List\_08182020." Florida Department of Environmental Protection, 18 Aug. 2020. Can be found at https://floridadep.gov/sites/default/files/Comprehensive-Verified-List\_08182020.xlsx, Row 695.

109 "Sarasota County: Consent Order." Sarasota County, FL, Sarasota County, FL, www.scgov.net/government/public-utilities-water/consent-order.

110 Impacting the Watershed: Tar-Pamlico River Basin. Sound Rivers. Can be found at https://soundrivers.org/watershed/.

111 Three Funded Sewer Improvement Projects in Parmele, NC through the N.C. Department of Environmental Quality's Division of Water Infrastructure [PDF]. (n.d.). Can be found at https://drive.google.com/file/d/1yrdZv9-LLIhEykyBU9WMKXfbzogStK9F/view?usp=sharing.

112 See line 7: "March-2019-Combined-Funded-Projects-List." North Carolina Water Infrastructure Authority, 12 Mar. 2019. Can be found at https://files.nc.gov/ncdeq/WI/Authority/2019\_meetings/March-2019-Combined-Funded-Projects-List.pdf.

113 "History of Parmele, North Carolina." *Parmele, North Carolina*, Town of Parmele, North Carolina, www.parmelenc.com/index.php/history.

114 Email from Kim Colson, "Parmele Sanitary Sewer Project," 10/30/2020.

115 See note 111

116 Email from Kim Colson, "Parmele Sanitary Sewer Project," 11/4/2020.

117 See note 111

118 See note 114

119 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Program Success Story: Community Partnerships Restore the Water Quality of Mill Creek." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2020. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2020-01/ documents/al\_millcreek\_1845\_508.pdf. Note: This serves as source for entire Mill Creek case study unless otherwise noted in the report

120 Rivers, Tori. "Parkerson Mill Creek on Auburn Campus Gets Makeover." OANow.com, Opelika-Auburn News, 17 Sept. 2019, https://oanow.com/news/local/parkerson-mill-creek-on-auburn-campus-gets-makeover/article\_76e32e08-18d5-11e4-bf30-001a4bcf6878.html.

121 See posts from 2017. "Friends of Mill Creek." *Facebook*, https://www.facebook.com/MillCreekPhenixCity/?ref=page\_internal.

122 Baer, Geoffrey. The History of the Chicago River, WTTW. Can be found at https://interactive.wttw.com/chicago-river-tour/history-chicago-river.

123 "Protecting Public Health, Caring for Chicago's Waters." Alliance for Great Lakes, 2007. Can be found here https://www.csu.edu/cerc/documents/ProtectingPublicHealth-CaringforChicagosWaters.pdf, 10.

124 Ibid.

125 "Green Bonds Project Expenditure Report." Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago, 30 June 2017. Can be found here https://mwrd.org/sites/default/files/documents/2017\_green\_bonds.pdf, 6.

126 Ibid.

127 "Thornton Composite Reservoir." WWDMag, Water & Wastes Digest, 12 Dec. 2016, www.wwdmag.com/thornton-com-posite-reservoir.

128 See note 125, page 6 and 25

129 "TARP Status Report as of June 30, 2020." Metropolitan Water Reclamation District of Greater Chicago, 30 June 2017. Can be found here https://mwrd.org/sites/default/files/documents/June%202020%20TARP%20Status%20Report.pdf, 2. 130 Fore, Allison, and Patrick Thomas. "Protecting Chicago Reservoirs." WWDMag, Water and Wastes Digest, 6 Mar. 2019, www.wwdmag.com/sewer-overflows/protecting-chicago-reservoirs.

131 Ibid.

132 "Fish Populations Make a Comeback in Chicago Area Waterway System." *Shedd Aquarium*, 28 July 2020, www. sheddaquarium.org/about-shedd/press-releases/fish-populationsmake-a-comeback-in-chicago-area-waterway-system.

133 See note 122

134 See note 129

135 "Our History and Heritage: 1972-2016." Neorsd, Northeast Ohio Regional Stormwater Management Program, https:// www.neorsd.org/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2017/03/CCR\_ HistoryBook\_2017-02\_HistoryBook\_Web.pdf, 25.

136 "About Project Clean Lake." *Neorsd*, Northeast Ohio Regional Stormwater Management Program, www.neorsd.org/ community/about-the-project-clean-lake-program/.

137 "Project Clean Water: NEORSD Green Infrastructure Plan Consent Decree Requirement." (2012) *Neorsd*, Northeast Ohio Regional Stormwater Management Program, https://www. neorsd.org/library/44\_42\_GI\_plan\_021012.pdf, 4.

138 Lynn, Christian. "Co-Benefits of Utilizing Vacant Land for CSO Reduction." Ohio Water Environment Association. Can be found here http://www.ohiowea.org/docs/330\_PM-05012017\_ FLEET\_GI\_OWEA\_FINAL.pdf, 6.

139 See note 138. Slide 16.

140 Webb, Rachel. "Green Infrastructure Policy." Northeast Ohio Regional Sewer District. Can be found here https://www. neorsd.org/I\_Library.php?SOURCE=library/GI\_2017-07\_Policy\_ web.pdf&a=download\_file&LIBRARY\_RECORD\_ID=7240, 3.

141 Danyluk, Joseph and Colich, Kimberly. "Implementation of a Green Infrastructure Program to COmply with a Unique CSO Consent Decree Requirement." Jacobs, 2020. Can be found here https://neorsd.sharefile.com/share/view/s79ae64e399bf42b

142 See note 136

143 See note 140, Slide 4

144 "On the Water: America's Third Coast." VISIT Milwaukee, VISIT Milwaukee, www.visitmilwaukee.org/plan-a-visit/ guides/on-the-water/.

145 Kaeding , Danielle. "Sewage Surging into Wisconsin Waters as Rain Intensifies." AP NEWS, Associated Press, 11 Jan. 2020, https://apnews.com/article/05aef5f5200a4930ad-71343fa632b573.

146 See Table: MMSD's Overflow Volume Since 1992."Why Do Overflows Happen?" MMSD Sewer Overflow Information, Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District, www.mmsd.com/what-we-do/wastewater-treatment/overflows.

147 Ibid.

148 See note 145

149 Kilmer, Graham. "Green Project at 'Tent City' Site Finalized." Urban Milwaukee, 20 Dec. 2019, https://urbanmilwaukee.com/2019/12/20/green-project-at-tent-city-site-finalized/.

150 "Milwaukee Overpass GI Stormwater Project Preliminary Master Plan." Urban Milwaukee, 17 Dec. 2019. Can be found here https://urbanmilwaukee.com/wp-content/gallery/temp/ pimno-2finalboards-9-1.jpg

151 "Intergovernmental Cooperation Agreement between the Milwaukee Metropolitan Sewerage District and the City of Milwaukee for Overpass Green Infrastructure/Stormwater Project." MMSD. Nov., 2020. Can be found here https://drive.google. com/file/d/1He5dIMaFG5g1XsTJrC34xrwcjUFcBJc/view, 1.

152 See note 149

153 See note 151, Page 2, bullet D.

154 "Section 319 Nonpoint Source Program Success Story: Best Management Practices, Infrastructure Improvements, and Outreach Improve the Guadalupe River Above Canyon Lake." U.S. Environmental Protection Agency, 2016. Can be found at https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2016-10/documents/ tx\_guadabvcanyon\_508.pdf. Note: This serves as source for entire Guadalupe River case study unless otherwise noted in the report

155 "5 Of the Coolest Ways to Beat the Heat In Kerrville." *Kerrville Texas* CVB, Kerrville Convention & Visitors Bureau, www.kerrvilletexascvb.com/p/things-to-do/5-of-the-coolest-waysto-beat-the-heat-in-kerrville. 156 "CM Allen Parkway Green Infrastructure." The City of San Marcos. Can be found here https://drive.google.com/ file/d/1Y6vJg64ubJ7PzlvvnOIYZpzCvCkqFQB4/view?usp=sharing

157 Ibid.

158 Ibid.

159 Email from Greg Schwarz, "City Park Restoration Project," 10/9/2020.

160 Ibid.

161 Ibid.

162 "Visitor Information: San Marcos, Texas ." *Toursanmarcos.com*, San Marcos, Texas Convention and Visitor Bureau | San Marcos Texas Convention and Visitor Bureau, www.toursanmarcos.com/visitor-information/index.html.

163 C M Allen Parkway Schedule and Budget. (2020). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.sanmarcostx. gov/1593/Schedule-Budget.

164 Pitchford, Gregory D, et al. Inventory and Assessment of the Blue River Watershed. Missouri Department of Conservation, https://mdc.mo.gov/property/watersheds/blue-river.

165 "Kansas City, Missouri, to Spend \$2.5 Billion to Eliminate Sewer Overflows." U.S. Department of Justice, 18 May 2010, www.justice.gov/opa/pr/kansas-city-missouri-spend-25-billion-eliminate-sewer-overflows.

166 Ibid.

167 "Kansas City's Overflow Control Program." Kansas City Water Services, Nov. 2013. Can be found here https://www. kcsmartsewer.us/home/showdocument?id=394.

168 See note 167, page 13

169 See note 167, page 13—calculation: 22,220 square feet + 5,070 square feet = 27,290 square feet.

170 See note 167, page 48

171 See note 167, page 4

172 See note 167, pages 47, 44

173 See note 167, page 52

174 See note 167, page 38

175 "South Creek Restoration: Clean Water = A Healthy, Vibrant Community." City of Springfield, MO. Can be found here https://www.springfieldmo.gov/DocumentCenter/View/31021/ South-Creek-Case-Study-Booklet?bidId=#:~:text=The%20goal%20 of%20the%20restoration,existing%20South%20Creek%20Greenway%20Trail, 6.

176 "Middle James River Sub-Basin Watershed-Based Plan, Wilson's Creek: 2016-2017." James River Basin Partnership, 2016. Can be found here https://static1.squarespace. com/static/590e3cede3df2845837660df/t/5a5fac01e2c483f-7cb9368d2/1516219414696/Middle+James+Watershed+Managment+Plan+2016.pdf, 6.

177 See note 175, page 5

178 See note 175

179 See note 175, page 6

180 Water Infrastructure Report Conversation with Todd Wilkinson and Carrie Lam, 10/7/2020, notes can be found here https://drive.google.com/file/d/15SeLau2c0qVyNDJoUniiys-FVPk5wWYdU/view?usp=sharing

181 See note 175, page 5

182 See note 175, page 5

183 Ibid.

184 See note 175, page 8

185 "Hebgen Lake." Visit Montana, Montana Office of Tourism, www.visitmt.com/listings/general/lake/hebgen-lake.html.

186 "Hebgen Lake Estates County Water and Sewer District Wastewater System Improvements." Montana Department of Natural Resources and Conservation, 22 Mar. 2013. Can be found here http://mediaserver.dnrc.mt.gov/grants/RRG-12-1487.pdf, 2.

187 Hausen, Jodi. "Water Woes?—Gallatin County Getting a Handle on Water Quality." *Bozeman Daily Chronicle*, 22 Jan.
2012, www.bozemandailychronicle.com/news/environment/ water-woes-gallatin-county-getting-a-handle-on-water-quality/article\_361255c0-4489-11e1-a385-001871e3ce6c.html.

188 See note 186, pages 3-4

189 See note 186, page 4

190 See note 186, page 1

191 Water Pollution Control State Revolving Fund Intended Use Plan and Project Priority List [PDF]. (2013). Helena: Montana Department of Environmental Quality. Can be found at https:// deq.mt.gov/Portals/112/Water/TFAB/WPCSRF/Iup-ppl/IUP-13FINAL.pdf, 22.

192 Mozingo, J. (2000, November 13). Officials Link Malibu Septic Tanks to Beach Pollution. Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.latimes.com/archives/la-xpm-2000-nov-13-me-51196-story.html.

193 Ibid.

194 King, M. (2018, October 10). Victory! Malibu Opens Wastewater Treatment Facility. Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://healthebay.org/victory-malibu-opens-wastewater-treatment-facility/.

195 CCWTF Phase One. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.malibucity.org/961/Phase-One.

196 Clean Water State Revolving Fund Success Stories. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.waterboards.ca.gov/water\_issues/programs/grants\_loans/srf/success\_ stories.html, Success Story 2.

197 Ibid.

198 CCWTF Phase Two. (n.d.). Retrieved November 01, 2020, from https://www.malibucity.org/886/Phase-Two.

199 See note 198

200 Department of Ecology, "Puget Sound Nutrient Source Reduction Project: Volume 1: Model Updates and Bounding Scenarios" (January 2019). Can be found at: https://fortress.wa.gov/ ecy/publications/documents/1903001.pdf, 86.

201 See note 200, page 80

202 Moriarty, Liam. "Marine "dead zones" detailed in interactive online map" (January 24, 2011). Can be found at: https://www.knkx.org/post/marine-%E2%80%9Cdeadzones%E2%80%9D-detailed-interactive-online-map 203 Lott History's, LOTT Clean Water Alliance, Can be found at: https://lottcleanwater.org/about-lott/leadership/history/

204 Dunagan, Christopher. "Sewage treatment plant in Olympia a leader in nitrogen removal." (March 16, 2018). Encyclopedia of Puget Sound. Can be found at: https://www. eopugetsound.org/articles/sewage-treatment-plant-olympia-leader-nitrogen-removal

205 Working Together To Develop a Sea Level Rise Response Plan, LOTT Clean Water Alliance, Can be found at: https://lottcleanwater.org/projects/sea-level-rise-planning/

206 See note 205 Calculation: (150 pounds N/288 pounds N)\*100=52.08%

207 See note 205

208 "LOTT Clean Water Alliance Annual Report." (2019). Lott Clean Water Alliance. Can be found at: https://lottcleanwater.org/wp-content/uploads/2019.pdf, 3.

209 "Pollution in our Waterways," Puget Soundkeeper. Can be found at https://pugetsoundkeeper.org/pollution/#:~:text=Polluted%20stormwater%20runoff%20is%20the,sidewalks%20 directly%20into%20our%20waterways.

210 Calculation: \$18,185,709+\$15,436,980= \$33,622,689. Dunn, David, and Filip, Dan. "Wastewater Regionalization Final Report to the Legislature." (October, 2009). State of Washington Department of Ecology. Can be found at: https://app.leg. wa.gov/ReportsToTheLegislature/Home/GetPDF?fileName-=0910066\_7776568a-93da-4d6e-9cbb-19823519f8c5.pdf, 74-75.

211 Portland fulfills its final legal requirement to officially end the CSO program. The City of Portland Oregon, 30 Jan. 2013, https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bes/article/432408.

212 Call with Arnel M. Mandilag, Oct. 8, 2020.

213 Combined Sewer Overflow Control (Big Pipe Project)–Cornerstone Projects. The City of Portland Oregon, 17 Feb. 2016, www. portlandoregon.gov/bes/article/201795.

214 Combined Sewer Overflow Control (Big Pipe Project)–Big Pipes. The City of Portland Oregon, 17 Feb. 2016, https://www. portlandoregon.gov/bes/70071.

215 See note 213

216 "Post-2011 Combined Sewer Overflow Facilities Plan." Environmental Services, City of Portland. Sept., 2010. Can be found here https://semspub.epa.gov/work/02/206591.pdf, 52.

217 Combined Sewer Overflow Control (Big Pipe Project). The City of Portland Oregon, https://www.portlandoregon.gov/ bes/31030.

218 Portland CSO Program 1991-2011. The City of Portland Oregon, 17 Feb. 2016, www.portlandoregon.gov/bes/article/402830, 0:39.

219 "The Big Float." Human Access Project. Can be found here http://www.thebigfloat.com/

220 "Check the Rec: Willamette River Recreation Index." The City of Portland Oregon, Environmental Services. Can be found here https://www.portlandoregon.gov/bes/57781.

221 Portland CSO Program 1991-2011. The City of Portland Oregon, 17 Feb. 2016, www.portlandoregon.gov/bes/article/402830, 0:48.

222 Kurtz, Tim. "Green Infrastructure to Reduce CSOs in Portland, OR." Environmental Services, City of Portland. Sept. 26, 2011. Can be found here https://www1.villanova. edu/content/dam/villanova/engineering/vcase/sym-presentations/2011/13\_3kurtz.pdf, 5.